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This version of our report is a free translation from the original, which was prepared in Spanish. All
possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original.
However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version

of our report takes precedence over this translation.

Independent auditor's report on the annual accounts

To the sole shareholder of Autopistas del Atlantico Concesionaria Espafiola, S.A. (Unipersonal
Company):

Report on the annual accounts

Opinion

We have audited the annual accounts of Autopistas del Atlantico Concesionaria Espafiola, S.A. (the
Company), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2024, and the income statement,
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and related notes for the year then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects, the equity
and financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024, as well as its financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework (as identified in note 2 of the notes to the annual accounts), and in particular, with the
accounting principles and criteria included therein.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the annual accounts section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those
relating to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the annual accounts in Spain, in accordance
with legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services other than
those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen that, in
accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary
independence such that it has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the annual accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit
matters

Assessment of Possible Impairment of the
Concession Agreement

As explained in note 5 of the financial
statements, as of December 31, 2024, the
Company has recorded as intangible assets an
investment amounting to €1,414,916 thousand
in a transport infrastructure concession
agreement, the AP-9 Highway.

The Company assesses potential indicators of
impairment and calculates the recoverable
amount of this asset, which involves a complex
process (notes 2 (b) and 4 (c)) requiring
significant judgments and assumptions by
management, supported by an independent
expert's report.

As a result of these calculations, the Company
has determined that no valuation adjustments
are necessary for the concession.

Given the significance of this intangible asset
and the high degree of judgment required,
evaluating its potential impairment is considered
the key audit matter

We have obtained an understanding of the
process used by management to determine the
recoverable amount.

We have obtained the financial model used in
the impairment test prepared by management,
on which we have performed, among others, the
following procedures:

° Arithmetic verification of the calculations
considered in the financial model.

. Comparison of the estimated cash flow
forecasts from previous years with the
cash flows obtained in 2024.

. Sensitivity analysis on the main
assumptions.
° Assessment of the reasonableness of the

business and market assumptions used
by management.

Additionally, we have obtained the valuation
report prepared by management's independent
expert, on which we have performed, among
others, the following procedures:

. Verification of the competence, capability,
and independence of the independent
experts by obtaining a confirmation and
verifying their recognized standing in the
market.

) Comparison of the methodology used, the
discount rate, and other market data such
as interest rate curves and CPI, with
those used by management and in
previous years.

Finally, we have verified that the disclosures and
information included in the notes to the financial
statements are appropriate.

The results of the procedures performed have
reasonably achieved the audit objectives for
which these procedures were designed.
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Other information: Directors’ report

Other information comprises only the directors’ report for the 2024 financial year, the formulation of
which is the responsibility of the Company's directors and does not form an integral part of the annual
accounts.

Our audit opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the directors’ report. Our responsibility
regarding the directors’ report, in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice, is to:

a) Verify only that certain information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report and
the Annual Report on Directors' Remuneration, as referred to in the Auditing Act, have been
provided in the manner required by applicable legislation and, if not, we are obliged to disclose
that fact.

b) Evaluate and report on the consistency between the rest of the information included in the
directors’ report and the annual accounts as a result of our knowledge of the Company obtained
during the audit of the aforementioned financial statements, as well as to evaluate and report on
whether the content and presentation of this part of the directors’ report is in accordance with
applicable regulations. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that material
misstatements exist, we are required to report that fact.

On the basis of the work performed, as described above, we have verified that the information
mentioned in section a) above has been provided in the manner required by applicable legislation and
that the rest of the information contained in the directors’ report is consistent with that contained in the
annual accounts for the 2024 financial year, and its content and presentation are in accordance with
applicable regulations.

Responsibility of the directors and the audit committee for the annual accounts

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying annual accounts, such that they
fairly present the equity, financial position and financial performance of the Company, in accordance
with the financial reporting framework applicable to the entity in Spain, and for such internal control as
the aforementioned directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process of preparation and presentation of the
annual accounts.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise
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professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the annual accounts or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual accounts, including the
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the entity's audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the entity's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with ethical
requirements relating to independence and we communicate with the aforementioned those matters
that may reasonably be considered to threaten our independence and, where applicable, the
safeguards adopted to eliminate or reduce such threat.

From the matters communicated with the entity’s audit committee, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the annual accounts of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

European single electronic format

We have examined the digital file of the European single electronic format (ESEF) of Autopistas del
Atlantico Concesionaria Espafiola, S.A. for the 2024 financial year that comprises an XHTML file of
the annual accounts for the financial year, which will form part of the annual financial report.

The directors of Autopistas del Atlantico Concesionaria Espafiola, S.A. are responsible for presenting
the annual financial report for the 2024 financial year in accordance with the formatting requirements
established in the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 of the European
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Commission (hereinafter the ESEF Regulation).

Our responsibility is to examine the digital file prepared by the Company's directors, in accordance
with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. This legislation requires that we plan and
execute our audit procedures in order to verify whether the content of the annual accounts included in
the aforementioned file completely agrees with that of the annual accounts that we have audited, and
whether the format of these accounts has been effected, in all material respects, in accordance with
the requirements established in the ESEF Regulation.

In our opinion, the digital file examined completely agrees with the audited annual accounts, and these
are presented, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements established in the ESEF
Regulation.

Report to the audit committee

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the audit
committee of the Company dated 2 April 2025.

Appointment period

The sole shareholder on 22 September 2022 appointed us as auditors for a period of three years, as
from the year ended 31 December 2022.

Previously, we were appointed by the sole shareholder for a period of three years and we have
audited the accounts continuously since the year ended 31 December 2019.

Services provided

Services provided to the audited entity for services other than the audit of the accounts are disclosed
in note 25 to the annual accounts.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242)

Original signed by Maria Callejo Dosset (23866)
2 April 2025
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Balance Sheet
at 31 December 2024 and 2023

{(in euros)
Note 2024 2023

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,549,419,888.69 1,534,987,114.37
Intangible fixed assets 5 1,414,930,056.15 1,435,209,983.85
Concession arrangements, regulated assets 933,384,769.94 976,171,678.38
226,431,269.22  229,685,649.76
1,490,532,944.84  1,490,532,944.84
(261,750,474.36) (261,750,474.36)
(521,828 969.76) | (482,296,441.86)
Concession arrangements, capitalisation 481,531,761.81  459,022,097.80
Other intangible fixed assets 13.524.40 16,207.67
Property, plant and equipment 6 867,857.16 835,143.40
Lands and buildings 1,614,229.73 1,607,388.32
Technical facilities and other property, plant and equipment 2,458,689.70 2,359,998.34
Accumulated amortisation (3.105,062.27) (3.032 253.26)
Nen-current investments in group companies and associates 7 and 17 | 132,816,724.32 97,612,541.18
Loans to companies 132,816,724.32 97,612,541.18
Non-current financial investments 7 98,021.01 71,638.33
Equity instruments 305.00 305 00
Loans to third parties 34,258.75 7.876 07
Other financial assets 63,457.26 63,457 26
Deferred tax assets 16 707,230.05 1,257,807.61
CURRENT ASSETS 110,577,431.66 85,166,822.59
Inventories 231,796.28 367,424.04
Trade and other receivables 7and8 63,296,369.55 55,245,801.90
Trade receivables for sales and services 4,368,113.94 5,078.300.62
Group companies and associates, receivables 17 1,887,120.22 2,873,656 59
Sundry receivables 1,456,611.76 1,812,082.68
Staff 17.415.28 15,972.85
Other receivables from Public Administration 55,567,108.35 45,365,789.16
Current investments in group companies and associates 7 and 17 6,844,520.73 6,089,597.14
Loans to companies 6,844,520.73 6,089,597.14
Current financial investments 7 30,363.40 18,037,602.85
Debt secunties - 18,007,239.45
Other financial assets 30363.40 30,363.40
Current accruals 307,926.90 283,687.13
Cash and cash equivalents 9 39,866,454.70 5,142,509.53
Liquid assets 39,866 454.70 5,142,b09.53

TOTAL ASSETS 1,659,997,320.35 1,620,153,}§36.96

The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form a comprehensive part
of the Annual Accounts at 31 December 2024

[ PILARB RTINEZ
TRADUCTORA-INTERFRETE JURADA DE INGLES
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.

{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Balance Sheet
at 31 December 2024 and 2023
(in euros)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Capital and reserves

Capital

Legal reserve

Other reserves
Revaluation reserves
Voluntary reserves

Profit for the year

Interim dividend

Subsidies, donations and bequests received

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-current provisions
Provisions for infrastructure maintenance
Non-current payables
Debentures and other marketable securities
Debt with financial institutions
Other financial liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Non-current accruals

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current provisions
Provisions for infrastructure maintenance

Current payables
Debentures and other marketable securities
Debt with financial institutions
Other financial habilities
Current payables to group companies and associates

Trade and other payables
Sundry payables
Staff
Other payables to Public Administration
Current accruals
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form a comprehensive part

Note

10
10

10
10

12

13

14

16

12

.
13
14

7 and 17

15

2024

503,101,592.84
455,652,668.31
195,917,586.00
39,183,517.20
169,277,407.03
168,694,027.73
583,379.30
90,274,158.08
(39,000,000.00)
47,448,924.53

1,065,498,527.18
24,320,434.39
24,320,434.39
1,025,347,104.46
549 967,713.70
115,675,817.32
359,703,573.44
15,816,315.33
14,673.00

91,397,200.33
8,926,073.15
8,926,073.156

71,342,494.92
64,322,458.03
967,920.22

6 052,116.67
65,948,555.88

4,336,930.39
2.883,998.78
680,590.66
772,340.95
843,145.99
1,659,997,320.35

of the Annual Accounts at 31 December 2024

1
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,620,153,

2023

472,416,859.68
422,854,450,13
195,917,586.00
39,183 517.20
169,277,407.03
168.694,027.73
583 379.30
82,575,939.90
(64,000 000.00}
49,462,409.55

940,166,913.01
22,718,039.88
22,718,039.88
900,944,057.12
611,409,910.27
65,687.630.36
223,846,516.49
16,487,477.01
17,339.00

207,570,164.27
7,305,160.36
7.305,160.36

189,463,122.90
100,688,824.14
86 694,949 46
2.079,349.30
6,410,792.45

3,670,907.65
2,260,630.40
699,849.24
610,428.01
820,180.91
;36.96
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.

{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Income Statement
for the years ending
31 December 2024 and 2023

{in euros)

Nole 2024 2023
Net revenues 18 210,090,366.63 192,560,955.68
Toll income 210,090 366.63 192,560 955.68
Inventories (490,031.09) (484,855.51)
Other operating income 5,264,522.38 3,287,806.48
Sundry and other current operating income 5,257 203.75 3,287.805.48
Operating subsidies for the year 7,318.63 -
Staff expenses 20 (11,848,517.80)  (11,192,994.14)
( Wages, salaries and similar expenses (8,608,753.97) (8,346 462.85)
Employer contributions (3,239,763.83) {2 846,531.29)
Other operating expenses (36,089,229.08)  (25,059,360.51)
External services (19.958,200.40) | (18,176,186.09)
Taxes (7 561,155.54) (480,522.06}
Provision for replacements and major repairs 12 (8.571,402.08) {6.402,652.36)
Losses. impairment and changes in provisions for trade operations 8 2528.94 &
Depreciation and amortisation charge S5and6  (39,646,655.17) (40,178,511.51)
Allocation to profit or loss of grants related to non-financial non-current assets and other grants 11 2,684,646.70 2,677,311.60
Impairment losses and profit/loss on disposal of fixed assets {281,786.92) (92,586.98)
Other loss (70,288.66) (4,445.27)
OPERATING PROFIT 129,613,027.01  121,513,318.84
Financial income 19 10,152,651.90 7,876,822.00
From negotiable securities and other financial instruments 10,152,651.90 7.876,822.00
From group companies and associates 17 7.534,106.73 5.367 411.04
From third parties 2,618,545.17 1,509.410.96
( rinancial expenses 19 (19,399,528.26)  (19,244,941.11)
From dabis to third parties (41,001,171.43)  (42,496,948.90)
From provision adjustments 12 (908,020.84) (902,734.44)
After applying deferred financial expenses from toll road financing 5 22,509,664.01 24,154,742.23
FINANCIAL LOSS (9,246,876.36)  (11,368,119.11)
PRE-TAX PROFIT 120,366,150.65  110,145,199.73
Income tax 16 (30,091,992.57) (27,569,2569.83)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 3 90,274,158.08  82,575,939.90
The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form a comprehensive*paq_ BEUE:. (.
of the Annual Accounts at 31 December 2024 PILAR BENITH: RTINEZ I
TRADUCTOFl—*mﬁE. FRFRAJE JURADA DE INGLES ‘
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Statements of Changes in Equity

for the years ending
31 December 2024 and 2023

{in euros)

A) STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNISED IN EQUITY

_A) Income statement for the year

B) Total income and expenses recognised directly in equity

Amounts transferred to the income statermnent

Subsidies, donations and bequests receved (notes 11 and 16)

Tax effect (notes 11 and 16)

C) Total amounts transferred to the Income statement

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES (A + B + C}

B) STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY

BALANCE, END OF YEAR 2022
Total recognised income and expenses
Transactions with partners or owners
Dividend distribution
Interim dividend
Other changes in equity
BALANCE, END OF YEAR 2023
Total recognised income and expenses
Transactions with partners or owners
Distribution of dividends (Note 3}
Interim dividends {note 3)
Other changes in equity
BALANCE, END OF YEAR 2024

Registered
capital

195,917,586.00

195,917,586.00

195,917,586.00

Prior years'
profit

208,460,924.23 .
(66,098,958.06)
(66,098,958 06)

- 66,098,958.06
208,460,924.23 .
- | (82,575,936.90)

{82 575,939 90}

- | 82,575,939.90
208,460,924.23 .

2024

90,274,158.08

(2,684,646.70)
671,161.68

(2,013,485.02)
88,260,673.06

2023

82,575,939.90

(2,677,311.60)
669,327.90

(2,007,983.70)
80,567,956.20

Profit for the
year

66,098,958.06
82,575,939.90

(66,098,958.06)
82,575,939.90
80,274,158.08

(82,575,939.90)
80,274,158.08

{Interim
dividend)

{53,000,000.00)
{11,000,000.00)
53,000,000.00
{64.000,000.00)
{64,000,000.00)
25,000,000.00
64 000 000.00
{39,000,000.00}

{39,000,000.00})

The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form a comprehensive part
of the Annual Accounts at 31 December 2024

Subsidies,
donations
and beguests
received
{note 11)

51,470,393.25
(2,007,983.70)

49,462,409.55
(2,013,485.02)

47,448,924.53

TOTAL

468,947 861.54

80 567,956.20
(77,098 958.06)
(13 098 958 06)
(64,000 000 00)
472,416,859.68

88,260,673.06
(57,575,939.90)
(18 575 939.90)
(39,000,000 00)

503,101,592.84

PILAR BENITEZ MARTINEZ
-RPRETE JURADA DE INGLE

TRADUCTE
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.

{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Statement of Cash Flow
for the years ending
31 December 2024 and 2023

{in euros)

Nate 2024 2023
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 100,889,253.56 72,244,828.42
Profit for the year before taxes 120,366,150.65 110,145,199.73
Adjustments to profit 55,059,544.87 55,364,558.11
Depreciation and amortisation charge (+) Sand 6 39.646.655.17 40,178 511.51
Changes in provistons {+/-) 7and 12 8,568,873.12 6,402 652.36
Allocation of grants (-) 16 (2.684,646.70) (2,677,311 .60)
Proceeds from divestments of fixed assets (+/-) 281,786,92 §2,586.98
Financial income (-} 19 {10,152,651.90) {7,876 822 00)
Financial expenses (+) 19 41,909,192 27 43,399,683.09
Appication of deferred financial charges (22,509,664 01) (24 154 742 23)
Changes in working capital {10,920,179.46) (17,398,467.50)
Inventories {+/-} 135,627 66 {170,021.29)
Trade and other receivables {+/-) {6.904,097 77) 1,886,518.41
Other current assets (+/-) {16,800 32} 237,963 52
Trade and other payables (+/-} 60,551 52 {16,807,691.67})
Other current liabilities {+/-) (4.217 340 90) {2.546,624.20)
Other non-current assets and liabiities (+/-) 21880 35 1,387.73
Other cash flow from operating activities (63,616,262.50) {75,866,461.92)
Interest paid (-) (35,610,324 53) (35,964,246.38)
Interest received (+) 1.543,991.47 599,222 51
tncome tax received (paid) {+I-) (29,552,458.38) (40,501,438.05)
Cther payments (collections) {-/+) 2.528.94
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES {7,316,991.22) {23,053,502.09)
Payments for investments () (60,979,628.48) (53,786,208.36)
Group companies and associates 17 (40 000 000.00) {35,000 000 .00)
Intangible fixed assets (2211,342 26) (747 205 69)
Property, plant and equipment (168 286 22) (39.002 67}
Other financial assets {18,600,000.00) (18,000 000.00)
Collections for disposal of assets (+) 53,662,637.26 30,732.706.27
Group companies and associates 11,575 000.00 8,000,000.00
Intangible fixed assets 5 5,482 764.12 12,714,000.00
Property, plant and equipment 4,873.14 18,706 27
Other financial assets 36.600,000.00 10,000,000.00
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES {58,848,317.17) (63,987,229.12)
Proceeds from and payments for financial liabilities (1,272,377.27) {15,888,271.06}
Issue:
Debentures and other marketable securities (+) - 177,111,728.94
Debt with credit institutions (+) i4 49,811,839.90 -
Cther payables (+) T 133,815,782.83 -
Redemption and repayment of:
Debentures and other marketable securities 13 {100,000,000.00) {193,000,000.00)
Debt with credit institutions (-) 14 {84,900,000.00) -
Dividend and interest on other equity instruments paid {57,575,939.90) (48,098,958.06)
Dividends (-} (57,575,528.90) (48,098,958.06)
NET INCREASE / DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 34,723,945.17 {14,795,902.79)

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 5,142,509.53 19,938,412.32
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 39,866,454.70 5,142,509.53
The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form a comprehensive part
of the Annual Accounts at 31 December 2024
PILAR BE ARTINEZ
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

NATURE AND MAIN ACTIVITIES

(a) Background

Autopistas del Atlantico Concesionaria Espafiola, S.A. (hereinafter, the Company, AUDASA
or AP-9) was incorporated as a corporation on 16 October 1973 under Spanish Law. The
Spanish government awarded it a concession contract to construct, maintain and operate a
toll road between Tui (on the border with Portugal) and El Ferrol, by virtue of Decree
1955/1973, of 17 August. The corporate purpose also includes the operation of toll road
service areas as prescribed by law. All of the above constitute the principal activity of the
Company. The Company has been incorporated for a limited duration of time in line with the
concession period. At the end of that period, it will cease to be a company or any other type
of legal entity.

Royal Decree 173/2000 of 4 February approved an amendment to the concession contract,
whereby the term of the concession was extended until 18 August 2048 in compensation for
carrying out certain work and investments by the Company. Management expects that the
total investment in the toll toad {recognised in the accounts as a concession arrangement
under intangible fixed assets) will have been recovered and all borrowings repaid in full at
that date.

Royal Decree 633/2006 of 19 May amended certain terms of the Concession of the Ferrol-
Portuguese border toll road so that the Company would stop charging users the toll for the
routes: O Morrazo-Vigo and A Corufia-A Barcala and return routes (see note 1 (d) and 8).

Royal Decree 1733/2011 of 18 November approved an amendment to the concession
contract whereby, in compensation for carrying out work to increase the capacity of certain
sections of the toll road, the Company can, as an exceptional measure, increase its tolls
pursuant the criteria established in the aforementioned Royal Decree until such time as it
has recovered its investment and the maintenance and other costs derived from this work
(see note 1(e) and 5 (a)).

Royal Decree 104/2013, dated 8 February, approved a concession modification according
to which, the Company, due to the application of a rebate to certain regular users travelling
between Ponlevedra and Vigo, compensated together with the compensation provided in
Royal Decree 1733/2011. Said Royal Decree was repealed by Royal Decree 681/2021 of 27
July in terms of user toll rebates in view of the fact that they are incorporated in said Royal
Decree 681/2021 (see note 1 (f))

Royal Decree 803/2017 of 28 July amended the shadow toll compensation procedure
considered in the agreement approved by Royal Decree 633/2006 of 19 May. Said Royal
Decree was declared null and void by a Supreme Court Judgement on 19 February 2020
which re-established the validity of the agreement regulated by Royal Decree 633/2008 (see
note 1 (d)).

Royal Decree 681/2021, of 27 July, amended some terms of the administrative concession
to build, maintain and operate the Autopista del Atlantico AP-9 toli road, approving a series
of toll discount measures for light vehicles that cross the AP-9 using ‘Via-T' on a frequent
basis and on a very frequent basis, and toll discounts for heavy vehicles regardless of the
payment method used (see note 8)

All of the share capital is owned by ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U. (formerly Emprega
Nacional de Autopistas, S.A.), which has its registered office in Madrid. At 31 Decembgr
2024, the shares of ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.AU. are held by ENAITINERE, S.L.U.
which, in turn, is owned by ITINERE INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A. (hereinafter, ITINERE)

[
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

Pursuant to article 42 of the Spanish Code of Commerce, the Company belongs to a group
of companies, the parent of which is ITINERE, which has its registered office in Bilbac and
on 26 March 2024 authorised the issue of its consolidated Annual Accounts and consolidated
management report for the year ended 31 December 2023, Those accounts were deposited
with the Mercantile Registry in Bilbao. ITINERE authorised the issue of its consolidated
Annual Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2024 on 19 March 2025,

All activity is carried out solely in Spain.
The Company's registered office is at calle Alfredo Vicenti, 15, A Corufia, Spain.
{b) Construction

At 31 December 2024, all the sections of the toll road between the Ferrol access and Tui are
open to traffic, covering a distance of 219.6 kilometres.

(¢) Financing

Given the nature of the Company's concession business, the deed of the concession and
other Royal Decrees that affect the administrative concession, there is a number of financing
requirements,

The Company cannot issue debentures without a bank guarantee or mortgage guarantee for
a total nominal value in excess of six times the capital issued and paid up. The Company
has financed part of the construction of the infrastructure through non-convertible debentures
listed on an organised market. The concession agreement provides for a tax deduction of
95% of the tax payable on the returns from these debentures (see note 13).

The Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility (hereinafter also called "MITMA"),
formerly named the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda granted AUDASA,
refundable advances of 30% of the total investment for the Fene-Guisamo and Rande-
Puxeiros sections, a refundable advance of 45% of the total investment of the Santiago
South-Pontevedra North section and a non-refundable grant of 50% of the work to be carried
out and the compulsory purchases for the Santiago North-Santiago South and Pontevedra
North-Pontevedra South sections (see notes 4(k) and 7(a)).

(d) Royal Decree 633/2006 and Royal Decree 803/2017

Royal Decree 633/2006, of 19 May, includes the abolishment of the direct charge to users of
the toll roads between O Morrazo-Vigo and A Corufia-A Barcala and vice versa. The amounts
resulting from applying the toll tariffs in force (including VAT) to the traffic count are assumed
50:50 by the Spanish state government and the Galicia Regicnal Government.

Later, Royal Decree 803/2017, 28 July, amended the agreement approved by Royal Decree
633/200, which affects the compensation calculation system and the method of invoicing and
the recipient, which exclusively became the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility.

The Company filed a contentious administrative appeal before the Supreme Court against
Royal Decree 803/2017 of 28 July and, on 19 February 2020, the Supreme Court agreed that
(i) Royal Decree 803/2017 of 28 July was null and void and (ii) the consideration system was
applicable to the concession operator as approved by Royal Decree 633/2006 of 19 May/ (iii)
AUDASA’s situation be re-established, recognising its right to be compensated forjthe
damages caused by the implementation of the remuneration system of the aforementi
Royal Decree 803/2017, and the right to be paid the interest that legally corresponds th
from the time of right to payment accrued in accordance with Royal Decree 633/2006
until it is actually paid, and (iv) order the General State Administration to pay AUDAS
compensation and interest resulting from the effects that may arise from the commit
agreed in 20086.

e T e - e e ——)
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

On 14 October 2021 the Supreme Court laid down an Order in which the General State
Administration was sentenced to pay AUDASA the sum of 13,883 thousand euros by way of
remuneration for the concession for the years of 2017 (since 29 July), 2018 and 2019. Said
amount, as well as the interest pertaining thereunto for an amount of 1,355 thousand euros,
was paid to AUDASA on 7 January 2022 (see note 8)

As mentioned in note 22 (¢), on 16 November 2022, AUDASA filed a claim against the Galicia
Regional Government in order for it to be declared that the latter is required to pay the
company 50% of the shadow toll pertaining to the financial years of 2020 and 2021, plus the
attendant interest in accordance with the Royal Decree in force 633/20086 of 19 May. In light
of ruling 60/2024, of 12 March 2024, of the Contentious-Administrative Court No. 2 of
Santiago de Compostela, by virtue of which it is recognised that (i) AUDASA's right to receive
the full amount provided for in the contract without being prejudiced by the Agreements
between the General State Administration and the Regional Administration, {ii) it is declared
that AUDASA does not have any contractual link with the Regional Administration and (iii} is
stated that the General State Administration will have to assume the contractual obligations
derived from Royal Decree 633/2006 of 19 May, AUDASA has filed an appeal against this
decision, with a decision expected in 2025. For the years 2022 and 2023, the amounts due
have been claimed from the Galicia Regional Government. Note 8 to these Annual Accounts
shows a detait of the Company's outstanding balances receivable from the Galicia Regional
Government for the aforementioned years

Royal Decrees 1733/2011 and 104/2013

As mentioned in note 1 (a), Royal Decree 1733/2011 dated 18 November approved a
concession modification by virtue of which, the Company may, in extraordinary
circumstances, increase, pursuant the criteria established in the aforementioned Royal
Decree, their rates until they have compensated the investment, conservation expenses and
other expenses derived from the capacity expansion works of different sections of the toll
road (the Santiago de Compostela ring road and access to Vigo, including the Rande Bridge).
Likewise, Royal Decree 104/2013 of 8 February approved the agreement between the
General State Administration and the Company to offer discounts to certain regular users
travelling between Pontevedra and Vigo. The discounts are given to users making a return
journey in a light vehicle on a working day on the Pontevedra-Vigo, Pontevedra-Morrazo,
Pontevedra-Vilaboa and Rande-Vigo routes via the dynamic toll system.

The section of Royal Decree 104/2013 on toll discounts for users was repealed on 28 July
2021 when Royal Decree 681/2021, 27 July, entered into force, because these discounts
were included in the new Royal Decree {see note 1 (f)).

During the term of the aforementioned Royal Decree, AUDASA chose not to record the
compensation of the aforementioned discounts on the balance sheet as it believes that it did
not meet the requirements established in the accounting standards for asset recognition,
which does not affect in any way whatsoever the right established in Royal Decree 104/2013
to receive compensation.

As established by the aforementioned Royal Decree, to compensate the lower income and
the capitalised value of the net cash flows until the end of the concession period calculated
at an annual rate of 8% as indicated in Royal Decree 1733/2011 of 18 November (see notes
1 (a) and 5 (a)), once the aggregate balance of both Royal Degrees has been calculatid,
the Company applied to the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility for an exceptiopal
rise in the tariffs that will guarantee that the aggregate balance resuiting from fhe
compensation at the end of the concession period will be zero. Likewise, as established|in
Royat Decree 1733/2011, dated 18 November (see notes 1 (a) and 5 (a)), once fhe
expansion works have been commissioned, an amount equal to 1.4% of the compensataple
investment, as well as the corresponding tax effects, is incorporated to the compensaffon

balance, as maintenance expenses.
PageB”o#.‘R ART'NEZ
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

On 29 October 2018, the Secretary of State for Infrastructure, Transport and Housing, by
delegation of the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda, in accordance with Order
FOM 1644/2012 of 23 July, issued an order approving the rates and toll fees for the
company's concession, resulting from the application of the provisions of Royal Decrees
1733/2011 of 18 November and 104/2013 of 8 February, as well as those included in the
draft Royal Decree approving an addendum to the agreement approved by the
aforementioned Royal Decree 1733/2011, of 18 November, according to which the
circumstances were appropriate to allow for an extraordinary increase in rates on routes with
direct payment by users of the aforementioned toll road of 1.0% for 20 years, as well as an
additional 1% in 2018, and an additional 0.8% in both 2019 and 2020.

Until the concessionaire company has received full compensation, the cumulative annual
percentage of rate increases and their validity period are reviewed every five years by the
Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility, making the necessary adjustments to the
compensation parameters. These adjustments may not result in an extraordinary annual rate
increase percentage of more than 1.5 percent.

As stipulated in clause eight of the agreement, these five-yearly reviews and the necessary
adjustments must ensure than before the end of the concession period the compensation
balances out at zero.

The breakdown of and movement in those balances corresponding to Royal Decrees
173372011 and 104/2013 are shown below:

31 December | Movements | 31 December Movements 31 December
Thousands of euros 2022 2023 2023 2024 2024

Clearing account - R.D. 1733/2011 and R.D. 104/2013

- Offset investments (R.D. 1733/2011) (note 1 {e)} 228,383 129 228,512 2,249 230,761
- Maintenance expenses (R.D.1733/2011) 16.452 3,773 20,225 3,450 23675
- Subsidised traffic (R.D.104/2013} 36.136 - 36,136 - 36,136
- Recovery of balance due to extraordinary increase in rates [29,868) {13.302) {43,170) (16.535) (59,705)
- Tax effects (5.492) 923 {4,569) 1,954 (2.615)
- Financial update 136,370 27.154 163 524 27,283 190 307
- MITMA contribution for balance reduction (R.D. 681/2021) (43,215) [12,714) (99,929) (5.483) (61.412)
Total clearing balance - R.D. 1733/2011 and R.D. 104/2013 338,766 5,963 344,729 12,818 357,647

() Royal Decree 681/2021

Royal Decree 681/2021, of 27 July, amended some terms of the administrative concession
to build, maintain and operate the Autopista del Atlantico AP-9 toll road, approving a series
of toll discount measures for light vehicles that cross the AP-9 using 'Via-T' on a frequent
basis and on a very frequent basis, and toll discounts for heavy vehicles regardless of the
payment method used.

The Company’s has applied a 25 percent discount on the toll amount for the return journey
made on the same working day and with the same origin and destination for light vehicles
that pay using the dynamic or electronic toll system.

The new toll rebate measures considered in Royal Decree 681/2021 simultaneously apply t
the maintenance of the aforementioned discount of 25 per cent on the toll that AUDASA ha
been applying at present.

The measures established in Royal Decree 681/2021, 27July, are designed to ensur
economic neutrality for AUDASA, so that the result for the Company will be the same aft
the measures are applied as if the concession agreement had not been amended.

PILAR BENiTEZ ARTINEZ |
Autopistas del Atfantico, Concesionaria Espafiola, 2024 Annual Accol s Bage 16 de. T FADA DE INGLES |

numero 32 3




AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

The compensation for AUDASA brought about by the application of the toll rebates included
in said Royal Decree shall be obtained as “1- 2+3", where:

1. Loss of income from the toll amount which as a result of this Royal Decree, is rebated
for light and heavy vehicles.

2. Toll income amount resulting from fraffic induced as a result of the implementation of
said rebates (new trips caused by the determination of rebates or attracting user traffic from
other roads).

3. Additional upkeep and operating costs brought about by induced traffic.

Traffic volume measurements and the attendant calculation of compensation are subject to
control and continuous verification by the Government Delegation in the Concessionary
Companies of Nationai Toll Roads. With this in mind, the Company sends the Government
Delegation a monthly count of the traffic carried out with a right to a rebate and a quarterly
calculation of the compensation receivable which, once it has been validated by the
Administration, gives rise to the issuance of the attendant invoice.

Royal Decree 681/2021 envisages that, in the first quarter of each year, the Government
Delegation in the Concessionary Companies of the National Toll Roads will approve the
annual settlement whereby, in line with the review and verification carried out, any applicable
corrections may be made.

Likewise, Royal Decree 681/2021 envisages that if the light and heavy vehicle toll rebate
measures considered therein and the actions required for their control did not attain in any
of the years the estimated value set out in the attendant budgetary items, the balance will
preferably be used, at the discretion of the Government Delegation in the Concessionary
Companies of National Toll Roads, to reduce the offsetting balance foreseen in Royal Decree
1733/2011 or to discount it from the subsequent annual payment,

In December 2024, the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility made a contribution
to the Company totalling 5,483 thousand euros to reduce the balance pending compensation
envisaged in Royal Decree 1733/2011 (12,714 thousand euros in December 2023) (see note

1 (e)).
(g) Royal Decree-Law 20/2022

It should be pointed out that article 51 of Royal Decree-Law 20/2022 of 27 December
regarding measures to respond to the economic and social consequences of the Ukraine War
and to support the reconstruction of the island of La Palma and other vulnerable situations,
approved a one-off, temporary subsidy for the revision of tariffs and tolls on the toll roads
owned by the General State Administration, in such a way that, from the revision of the
ordinary tariffs to be applied as of 2023, users wouid bear a maximum tariff increase of 4%
and the rest of the resulting revision is assumed by the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable
Mobility. The aforementioned Royal Decree-Law establishes that, as from 2024, the
percentage assumed by the Ministry will be progressively reduced, a reduction which will be
established by ministerial order, at the proposal of the Government Delegation in the National
Toll Road Concessionary Companies, before 1 January of each year, and this subsidy myst
be eliminated by 31 December 2026 at the latest.

[,
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
(a) True and fair view

The attached Annual Accounts were obtained from the Company's accounting records and
presented in accordance with prevailing commercial legislation and the standards
established in the Spanish General Chart of Accounts through Royal Decree 1514/2007 of
16 November and the amendments made to the latter by Royal Decree 1/2021 of 12 January.
Also, the standards to adapt the Spanish General Chart of Accounts for public infrastructure
concession operators, approved by Ministerial Order EHA/3362/2010 of 23 December, are
taken into account to give a true and fair view of the equity and financial position at 31
December 2024 and results of its transactions, changes in equity, and cash flow for the year
then ended.

These Annual Accounts, which were authorised for issue by the Company's directors, will be
submitted for approval by the General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting and are expected to
be approved without any changes. Similarly, the 2023 Annual Accounts were approved by
the Sole Shareholder exercising the powers of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
on 25 June 2024.

The Company Directors have prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis.

The figures included in the notes to these Annual Accounts are shown in thousands of euros,
which is the Company's functional and reporting currency.

(b) Critical factors for measuring and estimating uncertainties
(i} Relevant accounting estimates and assumptions

When preparing the Company's Annual Accounts, the Directors made relevant
accounting estimates based on past experience and other factors which, in accordance
with current circumstances, are deemed to be fair and constitute the basis for establishing
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities whose value cannot easily be established
from other sources. The Company reviews its estimates in an ongoing way and, as and
when applicable, their effects are recognised prospectively. However, given the
uncertainty inherent to them, there is an important risk of adjustments arising in the future
in the values of the affected assets and liabilities should there be a significant change in
the assumptions, facts and circumstances on which they are based.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other relevant data on the uncertainty of
estimates at the reporting date that present a risk of changes in the value of assets and
liabilitres are as follows:

o Accounting estimates based on projections

Financial projections are mainly based on traffic growth and CPI| forecasts, as these
assumptions are used to determine forecast income and to establish the method for
recognising deferred borrowing costs (see note 4 (a) (i)). The Financial Plan submitted
to the Spanish government in January 2012 should be updated in this respect (see npte

5 (a)).

o Replacements and major repairs

Estimate of the amount and periods refating to replacement activities and major repa|rs
when carried out in usage periods in excess of one year, which are enforceable in relajpn
to the elements required of each one of the infrastructures so that the activities
services they render and carry out can be adequately performed (see note 12).

—
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

o Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company tests its non-financial assets for impairment on an annual basis, using the
appropriate impairment tests in the circumstances.

o Deferred tax assefs

Recognition of deferred tax assets is made on the basis of future estimates made by the
Company in connection with the likelihood of future tax gains being available to permit
their recovery.

o Provisions

The Company makes provision for risks based on judgements and estimates of the
probability of them materialising, and their amounts. Provision is made when the risk is
considered probable.

o Calculation of the recoverable amount of the concession agreement

The calculation of the recoverable value may involve the establishment of future cash
flows and assumptions relating to the future values of these flows in addition to the
discount rates applicable to them. These estimates and related assumptions are based
on past experience and other factors deemed to be fair, in accordance with the
circumstances surrounding the activity conducted by the Company.

(c) Comparison of information

For the purposes of the obligation established in article 35.6 of the Code of Commerce and
those resulting from application of the principle of uniformity and the comparability
requirements, the 2024 Annual Accounts include comparative figures relating to the 2023
financial year.

(d) Statements resulting from IFRS-EU

Since 1 January 2005, listed companies have been required to prepare their consolidated
Annual Accounts under the International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the
European Union. Although this regulation is not applicable to the preparation of individual
Annual Accounts, companies that have issued securities which are traded on a regulated
market of any European Union member state are required to disclose the main changes in
equity and in the income statement had these accounting standards been applied.

Also, on 1 January 2010, IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements entered into force,
which provides guidelines on the recognition by concession holders of public-private service
concession agreements. This interpretation affects the agreements in which the grantor
controls or regulates the services for which the infrastructure is to be used, the price of these
services and ownership of the infrastructure upon expiry of the agreement. This
Interpretation sets out general principles on recognising and measuring the obligations and
related rights in service concession arrangements.

Although the standards adapting the General Chart of Accounts for public infrastructure
concession holders, approved by Ministry of Economy and Finance Order EHA/3362/2010
of 23 December, are aimed at harmonising Spanish accounting standards with Eur
standards, in particular with IFRIC 12, they nonetheless include certain adaptations fi
adequate treatment of the special circumstances of the concession business. In parti
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes fo the Annual Accounts

the concessionary companies of toll roads, tunnels, bridges and other toll roads. In contrast,
the IFRS disallow the capitaiisation of financial costs once the infrastructure is in operation,

Based on the above, application of the aforementioned International Financial Reporting
Standards approved by the European Union would lead to a reduction in equity of 361,149
thousand euros at 31 December 2024 (344,267 thousand euros at 31 December 2023) and
a decrease in profit for 2024 of 18,895 thousand euros {20,124 thousand euros in 2023). In
quantifying the above impacts, and as a result of the application of the aforementioned IFRSs
subsequent to the application of the Parent of the group the Company belongs to, AUDASA
applies the provisions of paragraph D16 of IFRS 1 in accordance with which it measures its
assets and liabilities by the carrying amounts included in the Parent's consolidated financial
statements, established at the date of transition to IFRSs.

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT

The proposed distribution of profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2024, prepared
by the Directors and pending the Sole Shareholder's approval, consists of the following:

Basis of distribution Euros
Profit for the year 90,274,158.08
Distributed:

Dividends 90,274,158.08

The Company can freely distribute the dividend.

On 23 September 2024, the Board of Directors resolved to distnbute the interim dividend out
of distributable profit at 31 August 2024 amounting to 39,000 thousand euros, equivalent to
1.1964 euros per share, paid on 3 October 2024,

Pursuant to the Consolidated Text of the Corporate Enterprises Act, the aforementioned
distribution was prepared based on profits at 31 August 2024 and the following forecast cash
statement for the one-year period from the date of adoption of the distribution agreement:

Thousands of
euros

Profit for the year until 31 August 2024 61,395
Allocation to the legal reserve N
Distributable profit at 31 August 2024 61,395
Interim dividend distributed N
Interim dividend to be distributed 39,000
Estimated liquid assets for a period of one year after 23 September

2024

Liquid assets balance at 23 September 2024 83,073
Collections and payments foreseen until 23 September 2025 48,021
Projected liquid assets balance at 23 September 2025 131,094

(¢} The distribution of profit corresponding to the financial year ended 31 December 2023,

carried out during 2024, i1s shown in the statement of total changes in equity, which fo
integral part of these Annual Accounts.
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts
4. RECOGNITION AND VALUATION RULES

The main recognition and measurement standards applied by the Company in the preparation of
the Annual Accounts for the year ended on 31 December 2024 were as follows:

(a) Intangible fixed assets

() Concession arrangements

Based on the concession terms for the services rendered by the Company, this
arrangement falls within the framework of the intangible fixed asset measurement and
recognition model, as the consideration received comprises a right to receive the
corresponding tariffs based on the degree of use of the public service. This right is not
unconditional, and depends on the capacity and willingness of the users o use the
infrastructure. Therefore, the Company assumes a demand risk. The features of this
arrangement are as follows:

o The concession grantor controls or regulates what public services the concession
operator must provide with the infrastructure, to whom it must provide them and at
what price; and

o The concession grantor controls any significant residual ownership of the
infrastructure at the end of the concession period.

The services that the Company renders within the framework of the concession
arrangement consist of the improvement, operation and maintenance of the infrastructure
during the term of the arrangement, in exchange for remuneration.

Infrastructure acquired from third parties is recognised as an intangible fixed asset at fair
value, although no income is recognised.

This intangible asset is systematically and rationally amortised, once the infrastructure is
operational, on a straight-line basis over the term of the concession.

The contractual obligations assumed by the Company to ensure that the infrastructure is
maintained in a suitable condition to adeguately render the service during the period of
operation, require that systematic provision be made following the criteria described in
note 4 (l). Maintenance works are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Work undertaken to improve or increase the capacity of assets should be considered as
a new concession. Nonetheless, if in view of the terms of the arrangement the Company
considers that these initiatives will not be offset by the possibility of obtaining higher
income from the date on which they are carried out, a provision for dismantling or removal
is recognised. This provision is equal to the best estimate of the present value of the
disbursement required to settle the obligation associated with the aforementioned
initiatives, and the balancing entry is an increase in the cost of the intangible fixed asset.
When the initiatives are carried out, the provision is cancelled and the corresponding
income is recognised provided that the Company renders the construction service. The
proportional part of the upgrade or increase in capacity expected to be recovered thjough
the generation of higher future income 1s recognised using the general acco%nting
treatment described above.

Pursuant to the powers of inspection attributed to the government representative in the
Association of Spanish Toll Road Concessionary Companies by virtue of clause |9 of
Decree 215/1973 of 25 January, which approves the General Terms for the Constrution,
Maintenance and Operation of Toll Roads under a concession arrangement, the bajance
sheets that the concession operator prepares should show the costs of intangible|fixed
assets and property, plant and equipment before accumulated amo@tio and
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

depreciation, followed by the deduction of the corresponding amortisation and
depreciation, as well as any impairment. In accordance with these instructions, the
historical breakdown of the "concession arrangements, regulated assets” line item has
been identified specifically at the values of the former Ministerial Order EHA 10/12/98 at
the transition date. Consequently, this information has been included in the
accompanying balance sheet for 2024 and 2023.

(i) Capitalised borrowing costs

Once recognised in the income statement, costs incurred by the concession operator to
finance the infrastructure should be classified for accounting purposes as a regulated
asset provided there is reasonable evidence that the tariff (public price) will enable these
costs to be recovered. Therefore, from the date on which the infrastructure is available
for use, borrowing costs on non-group financing, whether specific or general, directly
attributable to the construction, are capitalised, as long as these costs meet the
requirements defined in the Accounting Framewaork for the recognition of an asset, i.e.,
they can be identified separately and reliably measured, and there is reasonable evidence
and it is probable that the capitalised costs will be offset against future income.

The Company considers that there is reasonable evidence that the aforementioned costs
will be recovered through the tariffs of future years provided that, in addition to being
included in the Financial Plan, it could obtain future income at least equal to the borrowing
costs capitalised through their inclusion as permitted costs for the purposes of
determining the tariff, and evidence exists that future income will enable the recovery of
the costs incurred previously.

In order to calculate the amount of capitalised borrowing costs to be recognised under,
“Concession arrangements, capitalised borrowing costs — Intangible fixed assets”, the
Company should take into account the indicators of the Financial Plan of the concession
arrangement or a similar document used as reference to set the service price or tariff.
Operating income as a percentage of total income is calculated for each year forecast.
This percentage is applied to the total amount of borrowing costs forecast for the
concession period to determine the balance to be allocated to each financial year as
financial costs for the period. If the actual income generated during a year exceed forecast
income, the aforementioned percentage is determined for that year based on the ratio of
actual income to total forecast income, which generally requires an adjustment to the
amount recognised for the prior year.

{iii) Other intangible fixed assets

Other intangible assets include administrative concessions and computer software, which
are stated at cost of acquisition minus any accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

The above-mentioned intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised on a
systematic basis over their estimated useful lives, which are between four and ten years.
Their recoverability is analysed when events or changes occur that indicate that the
carrying amount might not be recoverable. Amortisation methods and periods are
reviewed at each year end and adjusted prospectively, as required.

(b) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or production minus ahy
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on a straight-lihe
basis over the average estimated years of useful life of the assets or over the concessipn
term, where appropriate, as follows:
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
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Notes to the Annual Accounts

Years
Buildings 50
Technical facilities and machinery 7-10
Other facilities, fixtures and furniture 10
Qther property, plant and equipment 4-14

Repairs and maintenance costs which do not improve the related assets or extend their
useful lives are expensed when incurred.

At each year end, the Company reviews the useful lives and depreciation methods of its
property, plant and equipment and, if necessary, adjusts them prospectively.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company evaluates whether there are indications of possible impairment losses on non-
financial assets subject to amortisation or depreciation to verify whether the carrying amount
of these assets exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the fair value minus costs to sell and the value in use.

In determining value in use, future expected cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market estimates as regards the time value
of money and the specific risks of the asset. In the case of the Company, its assets do not
generate cash flows that are highly independent of other assets, and therefore the
recoverable amount is determined for the only cash-generating unit identified to which all the
assets belong.

Impairment losses are recognised for all assets, or, where applicable, for the cash generating
units to which they belong, when their carrying amount exceeds their estimated recoverable
amount. These impairment losses are recognised in the income statement and reversed if
the circumstances in which they were recognised no longer exist. The reversal of impairment
is recognised in the income statement and only up to the limit of the carrying amount of the
asset net of amortisation and depreciation had impairment not been recognised.

Financial instruments
(i) FEinancial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

This category incorporates those financial assets, including those admitted to trading on
an organised market, in which the Company maintains the investment with a view to
receiving cash flows deriving from performance of the contract and the contractual terms
of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows which are solely receipts
of principal and interest on the outstanding principal amount.

The contractual cash flows which are solely receipts of principal and interest on the
outstanding principal amount are inherent in an agreement which has the nature of an
ordinary or common loan, without prejudice to the fact that the transaction conforms to
an interest rate of zero or below the market rate.

This category includes trade receivables and non-trade receivables:

(a) Trade receivables: these are financial assets which derive from the sale of
and the rendering of services owing to trade transactions of the company
deferred payment.

(b} Non-trade receivables: these are financial assets which, as they are not equi
derivative instruments, are not of a trade origin and their payments are for a i
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

or determinable amount, deriving from loan or credit transactions granted by the
company.

Financial assets classified under this category are initially recognised at fair value which,
in the absence of evidence to the contrary, shall be the transaction price, which is
equivalent to the fair value of the consideration received, plus directly attributable
transaction costs.

Nonetheless, trade receivables due within one year for which there is no specific
contractual interest rate, as well as staff receivables, dividends receivable and called-up
equity instruments expected to be settled in the short term are measured at their nominal
amount, provided that the effect of not discounting the cash flows is immateriat.

Subsequently, the financial assets included under this category shall be valued at their
amortised cost. Accrued interest is recognised in the income statement using the effective
interest rate method.

Nonetheless, any receivables due within one year which, pursuant to the provisions of
the previous section, are initially valued at their nominal value, shall continue to be valued
at said amount, unless they have been impaired.

When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are modified owing to financial
difficulties of the issuer, the company shall analyse whether there are grounds to post a
loss owing to a value impairment.

At least upon year closure, the necessary valuation change must be carried out whenever
there is objective evidence that the value of a financial asset, or of a group of financial
assets with similar risk characteristics valued collectively, has been impaired as a result
of one or more events that occurred after its initial recognition and which bring about a
reduction or delay in estimated future cash flows which derive from the insolvency of the
debtor.

Any loss owing to an impairment in the value of these financial assets shall be the
difference between their book value and the present value of the future cash flows,
including, where applicable, those deriving from the enforcement of real guarantees and
collateral which it is estimated will be generated, discounted at the effective interest rate
calculated at the time of their initial recognition. For variable interest financial assets, the
effective interest rate at the reporting date will be used, in accordance with contractual
terms. When calculating losses owing to the impairment of a group of financial assets,
models based on statistical methods or formuias may be used.

Impairment losses, as well as their reversal when the amount of said loss falls for reasons
related with a subsequent event, shall be recognised as an expenses or income,
respectively, in the income statement. The impairment reversal will be limited to the book
value of the asset that would have been recognised on the date of the reversal had the
impairment not been recognised.

Nonetheless, instead of the present value of future cash flows, market value may be used
provided that it is sufficiently reliable to consider it as representative of the amount that
would be recovered by the Company.

The recognition of interest in financial assets with credit impairment shall follow he
general rules, without prejudice to, concurrently, the company having to evaluate whetier
said amount shall be subject to recovery and, where applicable, posting the attendgnt
impairment loss.

Any income from interest on financial assets valued at amortised cost is recognised using
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
{Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

the effective interest rate method. When a receivable suffers a loss owing to value
impairment, the Company reduces the book value to its recoverable amount, discounting
the future estimated cash flows at the original effective interest rate of the instrument and
it will continue to apply the discount as a reduction in income from interest. Income from
interest on loans which have suffered losses owing to value impairment are recognised
using the effective interest rate method.

Interest and dividends received from financial assets

Interest and dividends from financial assets accruing subsequently to the time of acquisition
shall be recognised as income In the income statement.

With this in mind, the amount of any explicit interest accrued and not matured at said time
shall be posted separately, in line with their maturity, under the initial valuation of financial
assets, as well as the amount of the dividends agreed upon by the competent body at the
time of acquisition. “Explicit interest” shall be taken to mean the interest obtained from
applying the contractual interest rate of the financial instrument.

In addition, if the distributed dividends unequivocally derive from results generated prior to
the acquisition date because amounts that are higher than the profits generated by the
investee since the acquisition have been distributed, they will not be recognised as income
and will reduce the investment's carrying amount.

The judgement as to whether profits have been generated by the investee shall be made
solely considering the profits posted under the individual income statement as from the
acquisition date, unless the distribution charging to said profits should undoubtedly be
classified as a recovery of the investment from the perspective of the entity that receives the
dividend.

(i} Financial liabilities

The financial liabilities held by the Company are classified under the category of “Financial
liabilities at amortised cost” which, generally speaking, include debits from trade operations
and debits from non-trade operations:

{a) Debts from trade operations: these are those financial liabilities which derive from the
purchase of goods and services owing to trade transactions of the company with a
deferred payment, and

(b) Debts from non-trade operations: these are those financial liabilities which, not being
derivative instruments, do not have a commercial origin, but rather derive from credit
or loan transactions received by the company.

Participative loans endowed with the characteristics of an ordinary or common loan are also
included under this category without prejudice to the agreed interest rate (zero or below the
market rate).

Financial liabilities included under this category shall initially be valued at their fair value
which, unless proven otherwise, shall be the transaction price, which shall be equivalent to
the fair value of the consideration received, adjusted by the transaction costs, directly
attributable to them

Nonetheless, trade payables due within one year for which there is no contractuallinterest
rate, and called-up equity holdings expected to be settled in the short term are meajured at
their nominal amount, provided that the effect of not discounting the cash flows is imrpaterial.

Subsequently, the financial liabilities included under this category shall be valuediat their
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Notes to the Annual Accounts
interest rate method.

Notwithstanding with the above, debits maturing in no later than one year which, in
accordance with the provisions of the previous section, are initially valued at their nominal
value, shall continue to be valued for said amount.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at purchase cost. The purchase price comprises the amount
invoiced by the seller, after deduction of any discounts, as well as other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of inventories.

The Company uses the weighted average cost method to measure its inventories.

Cash and cash equivalents

This line-item includes cash on hand, current bank accounts, deposits and temporary
acquisition of assets that meet all the following requirements:

*  They are convertible into cash.
» They have a maturity of three months or less upon acquisition.
e They are not subject to a significant risk of changes in value.

e  They form part of the Company's usual cash management policy.

Income tax
The corporate income tax expense or income includes both current and deferred taxes.

The financial year's corporate income tax expense or revenue is calculated as the sum of
the current tax, which results from applying the corresponding tax rate to the financial year's
tax base after applying the existing rebates and deductions, and the variation in deferred tax
assets and liabilities recorded in the accounts.

The deferred tax income or expense corresponds to the recognition or cancellation of
deferred tax assets and liabilities. These arise as a result of the different valuation, either
accounting or fiscal, attributed to the assets and liabilities and certain Company equity
instruments, insofar as they have a future fiscal effect, as well as the negative tax bases
recognised or applied.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
to or recovered from the tax authorities, in accordance with the regulations and rates in force
or approved and pending publication at year-end.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in the income statement, unless it comes from
a transaction or economic event that has been recognised in the same year or in another
year under equity or a business combination.

(1} Recognition of deferred tax liabilities
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Notes to the Annual Accounts

(i) Recogniticn of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are only recognised insofar as it is considered likely that the Company
is going to have future tax gains to offset the aforementioned assets or when the tax
legislation envisages the possibility of the future conversion of deferred tax assets into a
credit enforceable vis-a-vis the Public Administration.

The Company recognises the conversion of a deferred tax asset into a credit payable to the
Public Administration when this is enforceable in accordance with the provisions of the
prevailing tax legislation. For these purposes, the deferred tax asset is recognised with a
charge to deferred income tax expense and the account receivable is credited to current
income tax. Likewise, the Company recognises the swap of a deferred tax asset for public
debt securities when their ownership is acquired.

In the absence of proof to the contrary, it is not considered probable that the Company will
have future taxable profits when it is foreseen that their future recovery will occur more than
ten years from the closing date of the fiscal year. This is regardless of the nature of the
deferred tax asset or if they are credits arising from deductions and other fiscal advantages
pending tax application due to insufficient quota, when the activity has taken place or the
yield resulting from the right to the deduction or allowance has been obtained, there are
reasonable doubts about compliance with the requirements to make them effective.

The Company only recognises the deferred tax assets arising from tax losses qualifying for
carryforward insofar as it is likely that future tax gains will be obtained that will offset them
within the period established in the applicable tax legislation, with a maximum of ten years,
unless there is proof that they will be recovered within a longer deadline, when the tax
legislation enables the carryforward in a longer pericd or does not establish any time limits
regarding the carryforward.

On the other hand, it is considered likely that the Company will have sufficient tax gains to
recover the deferred tax assets when there is a sufficient amount of taxable timing
differences related to the same tax authority and referring to the same taxpayer, whose
reversal is expected to be in the same tax year as the reversal expected of the deductible
timing differences or in the years in which a tax loss, arising from a deductible timing
difference, can be offset with prior or subsequent gains.

The Company recognises the deferred tax assets that have not been recognised because
they exceed the ten-year recovery pericd insofar as the future reversal period does not
exceed ten years from the year-end of the financial year or when there is a sufficient amount
of taxable timing differences.

To determine the future tax gains, the Company takes into account the tax planning
opportunities provided that it plans or is likely to adopt them.

(i) Measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates expected at the time

of their reversal, in accordance with the approved standard in force, and according to the
form in which the deferred tax asset or liability is rationally expected to be recovered or baid.

272014 of 27 November as an adjustment to the tax rate applicable to the deductible ti
difference associated with the non-deductibility of the redemptions made in 2013 and

Adjustments to the deferred tax asset and liability measurements are allocated to the ingome
statement, except to the extent that the affected deferred tax assets and liabilities have their
origin in book entries made directly to equity.
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(iv) Offsetting and classification

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet as non-current
assets and liabilities, regardless of the expected realisation or settlement date.

(v} Consolidated tax system

Since 1 January 2009, the Company has filed its taxes as part of the consolidated tax group
36/09 where ITINERE is the parent company.

Since the Company files its corporate income tax under the consolidated tax system, it
recognises the corporate income tax balances in the accounts with group companies and
associates on the attached balance sheet. The corporate income tax expense or income of
the companies filed under the tax consolidation system is established by taking into account
not only the parameters to be considered in the case of individual taxes, as indicated above,
but also the following:

o The timing and permanent differences as a resuit of cancelling the profit or loss on
transactions between group companies, deriving from the process of establishing
the consolidated tax base.

o The rebates and deductions and the tax losses that correspond to each company in
the tax group that pay tax under the consolidated tax return system will be attributed
to the company that carried out the activity or obtained the necessary income to earn
the right to the tax rebate or deduction.

The timing differences arising from eliminating the profit between the companies in the same
tax group are recognised by the company that generates the results and measured by the
applicable tax rate.

Regarding the tax losses from some group companies that have been offset by the other
companies in the consolidated group, a reciprocal credit and debit arises between the
corresponding companies and the companies that offset them. If there is a tax loss that
cannot be offset by the other companies in the consolidated tax group, such tax credits
losses for carryforward are recognised as deferred tax assets, considering the tax group as
the taxpayer for their recovery

Income and expenses

Income and expenses are allocated based on when the actual flow of goods and services
that they represent occurs, regardless of when the monetary or financial flow arising
therefrom takes place.

Income is recognised when the control of the goods or services is transferred to clients. At
this time, the income is recorded at the amount of the consideration for which it is expected
to have the right to a change in the transfer of the committed goods and services under
contracts with clients, as well as other non-derivative income from contracts with clients
which constitute the ordinary activity of the Company. The amount recorded i3 determined
by deducting the amount of the consideration for the transfer of the goods gnd services
committed to clients or other income pertaining to the ordinary activities of the Chmpany, the
amount of the discounts, refunds, price reductions, incentives or rights harffled over to
clients, as well as value-added tax and other taxes directly related with them wilich must be
subject to repercussions.
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Toll income is recognised as vehicles use the toll road. A portion of income came from the
State in accordance with the legislation to this effect (see note 8). Toll tariffs are revised
annually pursuant to Act 14/2000 of 29 December (see note 5 (a}).

Commissions on credit sales (cards or Via T devices) are recognised under External services
in the income statement.

Environmental assets

The Company takes measures to prevent, reduce or repair the damage caused to the
environment by its activities.

Costs derived from environmental activities are recognised as expenses when incurred,
except when they correspond to items which are included in the Company's non-current
assets, in which case they are recognised in property, plant and equipment and depreciated
in accordance with the criteria for property, plant and equipment.

Supplementary pensions

The Company supplements the Social Security pensions of employees who joined the
workforce before 29 March 1990,

In accordance with prevailing legislation, the Company outsourced the aforementioned
pension commitments in 2000 through collective insurance policies and has paid all the
insurance premiums in respect of these commitments at that date.

The Company classifies its pension commitments as defined contribution plans as it makes
predetermined contributions to an insurer and has no further contractual obligations. The
contributions are charged to the income statement on an accrual basis. Net amounts of the
annual premiums accrued that in financial year 2024 meant an expense record of 5§ thousand
euros (income of 26 thousand euros in financial year 2023) (see note 20).

Subsidies, donations and bequests received

This item reflects the difference between the amount received and the fair value at which
the Company initially recognised the refundable advances for investment it received (see
note 1{c)}, which will be repaid, in accordance with the terms and conditions established in
the pertinent regulations, in the five years subsequent to the first year in which the Company
has completely repaid its Group and external borrowings and, in any case, before the end
of the concession term, as the difference is considered as a subsidy associated with
"intangible fixed assets, concession arrangement'. They are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis, similarly to the redemption of the concession agreement
, bearing in mind the purpose for which the refundable advance was granted, in other words,
for the financing of the construction of the infrastructure (see note 4 (a) (1)).

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of.the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to
setile the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account all rigks
and uncertainties surrounding the amount to be recognised as a provision and, where the
time value of money is material, the financial effect of discounting provided that |the
expenditure to be made each period can be reliably estimated. The discount rate is a pre-
tax rate that reflects the time value of money and the specific risks for which future_zgsh
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Notes to the Annual Accounts

flows associated with the provision have not been adjusted at each reporting date. The
financial effect of provisions is recognised as a financial expenses in the income statement.

If it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle an obligation, the
provision is reversed.

The Company has certain contractual obligations relating to the ongoing wear and tear of
infrastructure. For example, it is required to maintain the infrastructure in suitable conditions
for the services and activities for which it was built to be carried out satisfactorily, and to
return the infrastructure to a certain condition before it reverts to the corresponding authority
at the end of the concession term. The Company plans for these obligations in the
development of its schedule of replacement and major repair works.

These contractual obligations are recognised and measured in accordance with recognition
and measurement standard 15 of the Spanish General Chart of Accounts, on provisions and
contingencies and booked under provisions for infrastructure maintenance in the
accompanying balance sheet (see note 12).

Provision is released as the maintenance activities are performed.

Operating leases

Income and expenses from operating leases are charged to the income statement in the
year accrued.

Any collection or payment that might be made when arranging an operating lease will be
treated as a prepaid lease collection or payment, which will be allocated to the income
statement over the lease term as the benefits of the leased asset are received or given.

Related-party transactions

Related-party transactions are recognised at the fair value of the consideration given or
received, in accordance with the above-mentioned measurement standards.

Current and non-current assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities are classified as current and non-current in the balance sheet. Assets
and liabilities are classified as current when: they are linked to the Company’s normal
operating cycle and they are expected to be sold, consumed, realised or settled within this
period; when they are expected to mature or be disposed of or realised within a maximum of
one year, or; they are held for trading or comprise cash and cash equivalents to be used
within 2 12-month period.

Severance pay

Severance payments in case of involuntary termination are recognised when there is formal
detailed plan and a valid expectation has been generated between the personal affected by
the termination of employment, either because the plan has already been implemented or
for having announced its main characteristics. Benefits that have remain unpaid for n;ire
than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to the related presgnt
value.
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5. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

The detail and movement are as follows:

[+ i C i Advances under Research
arrang arrang t, concession and Rights and Computer
regulated capitalisation arrang B development i ftware
assols {note 19} gulated penditure
Thousands of euros
Cost at 31 December 2022 1,471,114 434,867 39 100 191 248
Additrons 136 24155 = i
Disposals (12,830} - - (22)
Transfers 3% {35
Cost at 31 December 2023 1,458,468 459,022 100 191 948
Accumulated amortisation at 31
December 2022 (442,249} - {100} (191} {915)
Additions (40,047) . - 2 {17}
Accumulated amertisation at 31
December 2023 {482,296) - (100) {191) (932}
Net book value at 31 December 2023 876,172 A59,022 - - 16
Cost at 31 December 2023 1,468,468 459,022 - 100 191 948
Additions 2,513 22,510 6
Disposals {5.767)
Cost at 31 December 2024 1,456,214 481,532 - 100 191 954
Accumulated amortisation at 31
December 2023 {482,296) - - (100} {191) {932)
Additons 39,533) {8}
Accumutated amortisation at 31
December 2024 (521,829) . {100} (191} (941)
Net book value at 31 December 2024 933,385 481,532 - - - 13

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, there are no intangible fixed assets pledged as security or
subject to ownership restrictions.

All of the Company's intangible fixed assets are used in its activity and are located in Spain.

The Company has taken out insurance policies to cover the risks to which its intangible fixed
assets are exposed.

At 31 December 2024, the Company has fully depreciated property, plant and equipment totalling
1,211 thousand euros (1,207 thousand euros at 31 December 2023).

{a} Concession arrangements, regulated assets

As mentioned in note 1 (a), in 1973 the Company sighed a concession agreement with the
Spanish government for the construction, maintenance and operation of the toll road
between Ferrol and Tui (on the border with Portugal). The infrastructure will revert to the
State on 18 August 2048. The total amount of the consideration received is expected to be
recovered during this period, and the debt repaid.

The infrastructure was not built by the Company but by a third party, and was thgrefore
acquired onerously 1

Total

1,807,269
24,312

(12,842)

1,918,720
{443,455)

140.054)
{483,519)

1,435,210

1,918,729
25.029
(5,767

1,937,991

{483,519}

{39,542

(623,061)

1,414,930

.
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The price (tariff) that the Company collects from the users of the toll road for the public service
rendered is regulated by the concession grantor and revised annually as established in Act
14/2000 of 2% December. It is adjusted for inflation (CPI) and a corrective factor that reflects
the differences between forecast traffic and actual traffic each year. As mentioned in note 8,
a portion of toll income collected by the Company during financial years 2024 and 2023
comes from the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility, as established in the
contracts and agreements governing the concession, and other legislation enacted for this
purpose.

As part of the administrative report that served as the basis for the concession amendment
introduced by Royal Decree 173/2000 of 23 February (see note 1 (a)), the Company
presented the Spanish government with a Financial Plan which forecasts the full recovery of
the intangible fixed asset - concession arrangement, as well as the capitalised borrowing
costs, and the debt settlement during the concession period, thus ensuring an adequate
return on equity.

On 31 January 2012, the Company submitted certain updated financial forecasts required
by the Spanish government, which include the amendments made to the accounting
principles applicable to concession operators after the entry into force of Ministerial Order
EHA/3362/2010, of 23 December, and in which certain accounting estimates that served as
the basis for the calculation and recognition of certain indicators were revised and updated.
A summary of the key indicators used in the financial projections for the period from 2011 to
2048, expressed in millions of euros, is as follows.

Thousands of
euros

Replacement investments 153
Toll income 9,561
Financial expenses 1,680

The most significant criteria applied in calculating the aforementioned indicators are as
follows:

+  CPI: An average consumer price index of 2% per year has been estimated until the
end of the concession period.

+  Traffic: Average daily traffic (ADT) over the concession period is calculated taking
into account the traffic growth forecasts in the financial model, which constitute the
economic-financial balance scenario of the concession contract. Traffic growth
assumptions are one of the main pillars of the Financial Plan because, as mentioned
previously, they determine forecast income, and consequently, the methed for
recognising capitalised borrowing costs.

*  Review of tariffs: As mentioned earlier, the tariffs to be applied by the Company
are reviewed in accordance with a formuta set out in Act 14/2000 of 29 December
which, aside from the CPI for the previous year, includes a corrective factor based
on the differences between forecast and actual ADT.

+  Toll income: Toll income is obtained by applying traffic growth assumptions and
tariff reviews.

«  Operating expenses: Generally speaking, operating expenses fluctuate in lind with
the CPI.

«  Financial expenses: Financial costs are determined considering a debt strugture
consisting of non-current low-tax debenture issues. Similar terms and conditiofs to
the issues by the Company in 2011 have been considered for refinancing throughout
the term of the concession (see note 13}).

* Replacement investments: The Company has prepared a non-current actiongplan
for the infrastructure throughout the concession period, and until the infrastruptu
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reverts to the concession grantor, designed to ensure the adequate rendering of
services that constitute its corporate purpose. This plan serves as a basis for the
systematic recognition of a provision based on infrastructure use and until these
actions are required, which are the result of the ongoing wear and tear of the asset
and the obligation to maintain the infrastructure in a suitable condition (see note 12).

As mentioned in note 1(a), in 2011 the Company entered into an agreement with the Ministry
of Transport and Sustainable Mobility to increase the capacity of certain sections of the toll
road (the Santiago de Compostefa ring road and the access to Vigo including the Rande
Bridge) which was ratified by Royal Decree 1733/2011 of 18 November.

To compensate the concession company for the investments to be made and the higher
costs of this work, the aforementioned Royal Decree 1733/2011 envisages an increase in
tariffs pursuant the criteria established in the aforementioned Royal Decree, as an
exceptional measure, which will remain in force until all the investment in the extension and
the related maintenance and other costs, including the relevant tax effects, have been
compensated.

The compensation of these investments and their associated costs is calculated through the
capitalised value at an annual rate of 8% of the cash flow associated with this project up to
the end of the concession period. This compensation does not include the amount of the
capitalisation of net financial expenses which, until 31 December 2017, for a total of 50,048
thousand euros or the costs incurred on the Sigleiro junction for an amount of 6,224
thousand euros, which will be recovered by collecting the toll from users making new
journeys. The works of this junction were commissioned on 28 July 2017.

As at 31 December 2024 the amount pertaining to said works to expand capacity, deducting
the contributions made by the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility in 2021 and
2024 (see note 1 (f)), amounts to 169,349 thousand euros (172,583 thousand euros as at 31
December 2023) and it forms part of the compensation considered in the aforementioned
Royal Decree 1733/2011.

As explained in note 1 (e), to re-establish the economic and financial equilibrium of the
Company the aggregate amount resulting from applying Royal Decree 1733/2011 and Royal
Decree 104/2013 of 8 February should be calculated (see notes 1 (a) and {(e)).

The additions recorded in 2024 and 2023 correspond mainly to work carried out in relation
to the construction project for the replacement of the Chapela road (O Morrazo-Teis junction
section) linked to the addendum to the agreement approved by Royal Decree 1733/2011, of
18 November (Royal Decree 1359/2018, of 29 October), as well as with works related to the
connection between the AP-9 and the AC-14 (Road 18),

The de-recognitions recorded in 2024 and 2023 mainly refer to the contribution that the
Company received from the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility in December
2024 and December 2023, in accordance with the provisions of article 4 of Royal Decree
681/2021, 27 July, for the amount of 5,483 thousand euros and 12,714 thousand euros,
respectively, with a view to reducing the balance pending compensation envisaged in Royal
Decree 1733/2011, 18 November (see note 1 (f)).

Concession arrangements, capitalisation

For borrowing costs on non-group financing, whether specific or general, directly attribdtable
to the construction, which are incurred once the infrastructure is operational, the Company
performs a yearly compliance analysis of the asset recognition requirements set out |n the
Conceptual Accounting Framework, in order to capitalise these borrowing costs] The
borrowing costs capitalised in 2024 amount 22,510 thousand euros (24,155 thousa ur

in 2023) {see note 19).
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Impairment of the concession agreement

As at year-end 2024, the Company had not identified the existence of any signs of
impairment of its intangible assets in the concession agreement. Notwithstanding the above,
in view of the nature of the business undertaken by the Company, the latter calculates
annually the recoverable value of its concession-based assets, assumed to be the highest
from between the fair value, minus the selling costs and its value in use and it verifies that
the latter is greater than its book value as at the analysis date. To calculate this value in use,
the Company estimated future cash inflows and outflows arising from the continued use of
the asset, i.e., the cash flows resulting from operating it, which the Company expects to
obtain from the concession arrangement at that date, discounted at an appropriate rate
(weighted average capital cost — WACC), which stood at 6.07% in financial year 2024 (6.33%
on 31 December 2023). The following are considered when estimating future cash flows:

* Reasonable assumptions and best estimates of management, based on the
information available at the date of the analysis, taking into account the economic
conditions forecast over the remaining term of the concession, and which constitute
its business plan. The terms of the concession arrangement are also taken into
account in this regard.

» Budgetary estimates and financial and operating projections until the concession
expires, annually revised by the Company. The financial-economic model pursuant
the companies have established the recoverable amount of their concessionary assets
as at 31 December 2024 considers, inter alia, estimations on the traffic increase based
on a externally developed studio and CPI, tariffs updating, interest rates and debt
refinancing projections .

The analysis, revised and ratified by an independent expert, revealed that the value in use
of the concession assets is higher than the carrying amount, thereby not being necessary to
record any valuation adjustment at 31 December 2024.

Likewise, and without prejudging any material risk in the variation of the key assumptions,
the Company has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the value in use of its concession
assets in addition to the already considered in the estimations made to make sure that their
recoverable amount exceeds their carrying amount at year-end. That sensitivity analysis
envisages variations in the discount rate up to +1,034 basic points and an increase of 0% in
traffic, and the results obtained show that the recoverable amount of the concession contract
at 31 December 2024 exceeds the book value in the envisaged scenarios.

S A— |
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{d) Measurement of the Concession Arrangement, Regulated Asset (Sole Transitional Provision
of Ministerial Order EHA/3362/2010)

Pursuant to the sole transitional provision of Ministerial Order EHA/3362/2010, approving
standards to adapt the Spanish General Chart of Accounts for public infrastructure
concession operators, on 1 January 2010 the Company reclassified assets related to the toll
road investment at their carrying amount at 31 December 2009. At the request of the
government representative in the Association of Spanish Toll Road Concessionary
Companies, the following are details of the tolt road investment that formed part of property,
plant and equipment in accordance with the previous applicable accounting legislation
(Ministry of Economy and Finance Order of 10 December 1998), the carrying amount of
which was the value of the concession arrangement, regulated asset line item under
intangible fixed assets:

Thousands of suros B“a’:?:'g“{,?t

Studies and projects 18,653
Expropriation and replacing of services 182,845
Works execution 738,636
Operating intangible fixed assets 35,366
Net financial expenses 105,825
Administrative expenses 10,603
Site management for works 35,030
Expenses 1,127,048
Legal adjustments and revaluations 363,484
Total cost 1,490,532
Accumulated amortisation (261,750}
Investment in toll roads (Order EHA of 10/12/88)

Cost Concesslon Arrangement - Regulated assets

{Order EHA/3362/2010) 1,228,782

(*) Date of first-time adoption of the standards envisaged in Order
EHA/3362/2010. Considers the adjustments up to 2024,

In accordance with the aforementioned Ministerial Order, new investments in the toll road
are not recognised as an asset addition, as had been previously conducted under the 1998
legislation, except where these are for an expansion that would require a contractual
modification. As mentioned in note 4 (I}, in accordance with Ministerial Order
EHA/3362/2010, these initiatives are recognised through a systematic provision based on
the use of the infrastructure until the aforementioned investments are finally carried out.
Replacements and major repairs effectively performed each year are therefore recognised
as applications of the aforementioned provision {(see note 12).
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The detail and movement are as follows:

Thousands of euros

Cost at 31 December 2022
Additions
Disposals

Cost at 31 December 2023

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2022
Additions
Disposals

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2023

Net book value at 31 December 2023

Cost at 31 December 2023
Additions
Disposals

Cost at 31 December 2024

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2023
Additions
Disposals

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2024

Net book value at 31 December 2024

Lands and
buildings

1,507
1

1,508

{969)
(32)

{1,001}
§07

1,508
7

1,515

{1,001)
{32}

(1,033)
482

Technical
facilities and
machinery

562

1
{53
510

{508)
22)
51

{479)
31

510
85
(33)
542
(479)
(12)
32
(459)
83

Other
facilities.
fixtures and
furniture

1,366
28
mn

1,393

{1,218)
{28)

1
{1,245)
148

1,393
3

1,396

(1,245)
(25)

(4,270)
126

Other
property,
plant and

equipment

454

22
(20)
456

(294)
(33)
20

(307)
149

456
65

n
520

(307)
(36)

(343)
177

Tealal

3,889
52

(74}
3,867
(2,989)
|:T15]-
72

(3,032)
835

3,867
140
(34}

3,973
(3,032)
{105)
32

{3,105)
868

At 31 December 2024, the Company has fully depreciated property, plant and equipment totalling
1,821 thousand euros (1,725 thousand euros at 31 December 2023).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, no items of property, plant and equipment have been pledged

as collateral, are subject to reversal or have ownership restrictions.

The Company has taken out insurance policies to adequately cover the risks to which its property,

plant and equipment are exposed.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
FINANCIAL ASSETS

A breakdown of financial assets, all falling under the category of "Financial assets at amortised
cost’, is provided in the accompanying balance sheet, as follows:

Thousands of euros

Classes
Non-current financtal
instruments Current financial instruments
Total
Categories Credits/ Debt Credits/
Derivatives/Other securities Derlvatives/Other
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
MNon-current financial assels
Non-current investments in group companies and
associates 132,817 97613 - - - 132,817 97,613
Loans to companies (note 17) 132,817 97,613 - - - - 132817 97613
Non-current financial investments o8 ] - - . 98 A
Loans to thud parties 35 8 - - - - 35 8
Other financial assets 63 63 - - 63 63
Total non-curraent financial assets 132,915 97,684 - - - 132,915 97,684
Current financial assets
Trade and olher receivables - - - 63,296 55,246 63,206 55,246
Trade receivables for sales and services - - - - 4368 5,078 4,368 5,079
Group companies and associates. receivables (note
17} - - - 1,887 2,874 1,887 2874
Sundry receivables - b 1,457 1,912 1,457 1912
Staff - - - 17 16 17 16
Other recewables from Public Administration - - - . 55,567 45,366 55,567 45,366
Current investments in group companies and
associates - - 6,845 6,080 6,845 6,090
Loans to companies inolte 17} - - - - 6,845 6,000 6.845 6,090
Current financial investments . - - 18,007 30 30 30 18,037
Debt securities - 18.007 - - - 18,007
Other financial assets - - - 30 30 30 30
Total current financial assets - - 18,007 70,171 61,386 70,171 79,373
Total financial assets 132,915 97,684 - 18,007 T0.471 61,386 203,086 177,057

The fair values of the financial assets at 31 December 2024 and 2023 do not differ significantly
from their carrying amounts.
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+» Loans to third parties

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, loans to third parties included under non-current financial
investments in the attached balance sheets include the non-current portion of advances and loans
to personnel, which accrue interest in accordance with the rate established in the collective
bargaining agreement in force. Details of the maturities of these at 31 December 2024 and 2023
are as follows:

Thousands of euros 2024 2023
Al two years 12 6
At three years 7 2
At four years 4 -
At five or more years 12

Total maturities 35 8

e  Other financial assets

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other financial assets under the non-current financial
investments item reflect the amount of the guarantees granted by the Company. On the other
hand, the other financial assets posted as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 under the current
financial investments item mainly include the estimated amounts receivable for reversals accrued
deriving from pension supplements (see note 4 (j)).

e Debt securities
At 31 December 2023, debt securities included the investments made by the Company in fixed

income securities, which accrued interest at market rates and which mature at over 3 months.
The return on said securities stood at an average rate of 3.67%.
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EINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A breakdown of financial liabilities, all falling under the category of “Financial liabilities at
amortised cost” is provided in the accompanying baiance sheets, as follows:

Classes
Non-current financial instrumants Current financial instrumaents
. . Debentures and Debt with Debentures and Total
Categories Dabl with BOAnci8l  OtherMarkatable  Denvatives / Others financial Other Marketable  Derivatives / Others
v Secunties instituti 8 i
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024
Curren| fmanesl labites.
Non-cument payables 115676 65688 549,968 511,410 359,704 223.847 . 1,025,348
Debenlures and other markelable secures {nole
13) - 540968 B11.410 - B - - a r v v 549,088
Debt with credn instiutions (nole 14) 115878 B5.868 . . - 115876
Ciher nancial iabitdes = . - ISHTO4 223847 - - - . . . 359,704
~otal non-cument financial liabilities 115,876 65,688 549,968 611,410 359,704 223,847 . . . 1,025,348
swuirent financial abiiies
Curreni payables - - - 943 86 695 84,322 100,680 6,052 2,079 71.242
D and other ities (nole
13y _ 2 ! ; E s - 84322 100.689 . - 64.322
Debd with credil Inslitutions (note 14) - - - N 968 BE,695 . . . - 968
Other Bnancial iabililes - S . . - - = E = 6.052 2.079 6052
Cumenl payables la group companies and associales
{note 17) - - - - - 5.549 6411 5,940
Trade and olher payaties . - - - - - - v 3,568 2981 3.585
Sunary payaties . g - - - - 2,879 2.258 2879
Group panies and E Hors {nota
17) - - F 5 5 [
Staff . = 3 = - &8 To0 861
Tolal currant financial liabilities - - - s 5 968 26,695 54,322 100,688 15,568 11,451 80,856
Total financial liabilities 146,676 65,688 549,958 611,410 369,704 223,847 968 86,695 64,322 100,685 15,586 11,459 1.1086,204

The fair values of financial liabilities at 31 December 2024 and 2023 do not differ substantially
from their carrying amounts.

(a) Other non-current financial liabilities

Details of this category at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Thousands of euros 2024 2023

Refundable advances 44,101 42,266
Non-current loans 312,300 178,181
Other non-current debis 3.243 3,340
Non-current guarantees 60 &0
Other 359,704 223,847

Refundable advances:

This line-item comprises the refundable advances extended to the Company by the government,
the original nominal amount of which was 118,796 thousand euros, as described in note 1(c).
These advances will be refunded within the five years subsequent to the first year that the
Company has fully repaid its Group and non-Group debt, which is expected to be more than five
years from 31 December 2024 and in any case, before the end of the concession period (see
notes 4 (k) and 11).
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These advances are measured at amortised cost, using an appropriate discount rate based on
the date that the Company is expected to repay them. At 31 December 2024, the Company
recognised financial costs related to these advances of 1,835 thousand euros (1,758 thousand
euros at 31 December 2023) (see note 19).

Non-current loans:

Other non-current liabilities include three loan contracts with an institutional investor disbursed in
May 2022, January 2024 and November 2024 for nominal amounts of 180,300 thousand euros,
84,900 thousand euros and 50,000 thousand euros, respectively. These loans bear fixed annual
interest rates (2.40%, 4.40% and 4.50%, respectively), maturing in May 2032, January 2034 and
November 2034, all of them guaranteed by ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U.

The amortised cost value at 31 December 2024 of the aforementioned loans amounts to 312,300
thousand euros (178,181 thousand euros at 31 December 2023).

The aforementioned loan agreements provide for certain obligations, including compliance with a
Debt Service Coverage Ratio of no less than 1.05x, and limitations on the contracting of additional
debt over the total current debt.

The Directors believe that the above clauses are fulfilled, and consequently, the lenders have no
grounds to terminate the contract.

Accrued interest under these loans awaiting maturity at 31 December 2024 and 2023 amounted
to 2,400 thousand euros (613 thousand euros in 2023). These amounts are set out in the item
“Current debts - Other financial liabilities” of the attached balance sheet.

In 2024, financial expenses were allocated to the income statement in application of the effective
interest rate method for an amount of 8,309 thousand euros (4,553 thousand euros in 2023} (see
note 19).

(b)  Average period for payments to suppliers. Additional provision three. “Duty of Information®
of Act 16/2010 of 5 July, amended by Act 18/2022 of 28 September.

The average period for payments to suppliers in 2024 and 2023 is shown below:

2024 2023
Days
Average period for payments to suppliers 20 21
Ratio of transactions paid 22 22
Ratio of transactions pending payment 6 5
Amount
(Thousands of euros)

Total payments made 34,008 28.750
Total payments made in a timeframe shorter than the maximum

determined 33,953 28,670
Total payments pending 5,567 3137

Other information
Number of invoices paid in a timeframe shorter than the maximum

determined 4.811 4,746
Percentage of invoices paid in a timeframe shorter than the maximum

determined 99% 98%
Percentage of payments made in a timeframe shorter than the maximum

determined 100% 100%

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company does not have any amounts pending payment on
commercial transactions that accumulate a deferment in excess of the legal deadline as per the

e ———
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
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provisions of Act 3/2004 of 29 December and its subsequent amendments through Act 15/2010
of 5 July and Royal Decree-Law 4/2013 of 22 February.

(¢} Derivatives
In 2024 and 2023, the Company did not carry out any transactions with derivatives.
8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Details of trade and other receivables at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Thousands of euros 2024 20213

Trade receivables for sales and services 4 368 5,079
Group companies and associates, receivables (note 17) 1,887 2,873
Sundry receivables 1457 1912
Staff : 17 16
Other receivables from Public Administration 55,567 45,366
Trade and other receivables (note 7} 63,296 55,246

Details of other receivables from public administration at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:

2024 2023
VAT VAT VAT VAT
Thousands of euros Debtor included  excluded Total | included exciuded Total
MITMA - 6476 6,476 - 6,312 6,312
Main RD6&33/2006 (%) GALICIA
REGIONAL
GOVERNMENT 26,912 6476 33,388 10,274 8312 25586
MITMA - 127 127 124 124
Interest RD633/2006 GALICIA
REGIONAL
GOVERNMENT - 2684 2,584 1,582 1,582
RD 202022 principal MITMA - 1,657 1,657 2,197 2,197
RD 20/2022 interests MITMA - 9 9 . 48 48
RD 681/2021 {*) MITMA - 11,164 11,164 - 9,369 9,369
Other credits - - 162 162 - 147 147
Other receivables from Public
Administration 26,912 28,655 55,567 19,274 26,092 45,366

(*} The data pertaining to the "Exc. VAT column is a provision.

In accordance with provisions set forth in Royal Decree 633/2006, 19 May 2006, regulating, from
23 May 2008, the shadow toll following the removal of direct toll payments from users on the O
Morrazo-Vigo and A Coruiia-A Barcala routes and vice versa in and once the concession holder
had installed the traffic counters, the toll collection points were eliminated and traffic counts were
recorded. The amounts resulting from applying the toll tariffs in force (including VAT) to the traffic
count are assumed 50:50 by the Spanish state government and the Galicia Regional Government.

As at 31 December 2024, the amounts pending payment with regard to the shadow toll considered
in Royal Decree 633/2006 are the following:
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{a) Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility:

o 6,476 thousand euros corresponding to the shadow toll for the year 2024, which at the
date of preparation of these Annual Accounts had been collected, plus the
corresponding interest, which is pending collection.

(b) Galicia Regional Government:

o 5,779 thousand euros pertaining to the shadow tolls for 2020, plus the attendant
interest,

o 6,531 thousand euros pertaining to the shadow tolls for 2021, plus the attendant
interest.

o 6,964 thousand euros pertaining to the shadow tolls for 2022, plus the attendant
interest.

o 7,638 thousand euros pertaining to the shadow tolls for 2023, plus the attendant
interest.

o 6,476 thousand euros pertaining to the shadow tolls for 2024, plus the attendant
interest.

As mentioned in note 22 (c), on 16 November 2022, AUDASA filed a claim against the Galicia
Regional Government in order for it to be declared that the latter is required to pay the company
50% of the shadow toll pertaining to the financial years of 2020 and 2021, plus the attendant
interest in accordance with the Royal Decree in force 633/2006 of 19 May. In light of ruling
60/2024, of 12 March 2024, of the Contentious-Administrative Court No. 2 of Santiago de
Compostela, by virtue of which it is recognised that (i) AUDASA's right to receive the full amount
provided for in the contract without being prejudiced by the Agreements between the General
State Administration and the Regional Administration, (ii) it is declared that AUDASA does not
have any contractual link with the Regional Administration and (iii) is stated that the General State
Administration will have to assume the contractual obligations derived from Royal Decree
633/2006 of 19 May, AUDASA has filed an appeal against this decision, with a decision expected
in 2025. For the years 2022 and 2023, the amounts due have been claimed from the Galicia
Regional Government.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the shadow income received at according to Royal Decree
633/2006 amounted to 12,952 thousand euros and 12,625 thousand euros, respectively (see note
18).

Furthermore, the income accruing as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 originating from the
compensation receivable by the Company from the application of the toll rebates established in
Royal Decree 681/2021 of 27 July amounted to 42,246 thousand euros and 36,719 thousand
euros, respectively (see note 18). The amount pending receipt as at 31 December 2024 for the
sum of 11,164 thousand euros pertained to the estimated sum of toll rebates for the last quarter
of 2024 {9,369 on 31 December 2023)

Additionally, the income accruing during financial year 2024 originating from the compensation
receivable by the Company from the limitation of the toll tariffs established in Royal Decree-Law
20/2022, of 27 December, amounted to 6,748 thousand euros (9,215 thousand euros in 2023)
(see note 18). The amount pending collection at 31 December 2024 corresponds to the estimated
amount of the toll bonuses for the last quarter of 2024 of 1,657 thousand euros, which at the date
of preparation of these Annual Accounts have been collected, plus the corresponding interest,
which is pending collection (toll bonuses for the last quarter of 2023 pending collection amounting

to 2,197 thousand euros, plus the corresponding interest).
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Notes to the Annual Accounts

The balance of trade and other receivables is shown net of any adjustments for impairment.
During financial year 2024, the Company has reversed balances receivable provisioned in
previous years amounting to 3 thousand euros.

9.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The cash held by the Company at 31 December 2024, amounting to 39,866 thousand euros, is
unrestricted.

10.

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of equity and movement during the year are shown in the statement of changes in equity,
which forms an integral part of the Annual Accounts.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Subscribed capital

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company's capital amounted to 32,598,600 ordinary
registered shares, each with a par value of 6.01 euros, which were fully subscribed and paid
up. All the shares have the same voting and economic rights, are not quoted on any stock
exchange and there are no bylaw restrictions on their transfer. All of the share capital is held
by ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U.; therefore, at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Company meets the requirements set out in the Corporate Enterprises Act for consideration
as a sole proprietorship [Sociedad Anénima Unipersonal), and has been entered as such in
the Mercantile Registry.

Legal reserve

Companies are required to transfer at least 10% of profit for the year to a legal reserve until
this reserve reaches 20% of share capital. This reserve is not distributable to shareholders
and may only be used to offset losses, provided no other reserves are available,

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company has allocated to this reserve the minimum
amount required by law.
Revaluation reserves

According to applicable legislation, the Company opted to revalue the toll road investment at
31 December 1979, 1981, 1983 and 1996. The amount of the resulting capital gains, save
for 185.3 million euros, was capitalised through the issuance of fully issued shares. Since
the tax inspection period has expired, the balance of the 1996 revaluation reserve (185.3
thousand euros) may be used, tax free:

e To offset losses for the year or prior years’ losses.

¢ Toincrease capital.

* Toincrease unrestricted reserves, from 31 December 2006.
Nevertheless, the balance will only be distributable, either directly or indirectly, to the extent

that the gains have been realised, that is, the related assets have been depreciated,
disposed of or written off.

On 18 December 2019, the Board of Directors unanimously agreed to allocate revaluation
reserves totalling 16,628 thousand euros to repay negative voluntary reserves.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balance of the revaluation reserves amounted to
168,694 thousand euros.
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Notes to the Annual Accounts

(d}) Voluntary reserves
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the voluntary reserves balance was +583 thousand euros
Profit recognised directly in equity cannot be distributed either directty or indirectly.

(e} Contracts with the Sole Shareholder

At 31 December 2024, the Company has not entered into contracts with its Sole Shareholder
other than those stated in note 17,

11. SUBSIDIES, DONATIONS AND BEQUESTS RECEIVED

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the refundable advances extended to the Company are
recognised at amortised cost, calculated at an appropriate discount rate based on the date that
the Company is expected to repay them (see note 7). The difference between the amount
received and the fair value, net of the related tax effect, is considered as a subsidy associated
with the intangible fixed asset - concession arrangement. They are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis, similarly to the redemption of the concession arrangement,
according to the objective for which the refundable advance was granted, that is to say, for the
financing of the construction of the infrastructure (see note 4 (a) (i) and 4 (k)).

The detail and movement are as follows:

Thousands of euros 2024 2023

Balance at 1 January 49,462 51,470
Recognised in profit or loss

" (2.013)  (2,008)

Balance at 31 December 47,449 49,462

In 2024 and 2023, income totalling 2,685 and 2,677 thousand euros, were respectively transferred
to the income statement (see note 16).

12. PROVISIONS FOR INFRASTRUCTURE MAINTENANCE

As mentioned in note 4 (I), the Company is required to comply with certain contractual obligations,
which are recognised and measured based on the best estimate of the amount required to settle
the obligation at the reporting date To do so, the Company has identified future actions that
should be performed to maintain the infrastructure in suitable conditions for the rendering of the
services and activities comprising the purpose of the concession arrangement.

Movement in the provision for current and non-current replacements and major repairs during
2024 is as follows:

2024

Thousands of euros c::r:;\t Curent
Balance at 1 January 22,718 7,305

Provisions during the period 8,571

Financial adjustment (note 19) 808

Distributions duning the year - {6.256)

Transfers (7.877) 7.877
Balance at 31 December 24,320 8,926

r—
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

In 2024, the provision was used by the Company mainly for improvement of slopes, resurfacing
and replacing structures and various installations.

13. DEBENTURES AND OTHER MARKETABLE SECURITIES

This line-item consists entirely of the debentures issued by the Company, all of which are
guaranteed by the sole shareholder ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U. and are low taxation
non-convertible debentures (see note 1 (c)), as shown in the list provided in the Annex |, which
forms an integral part of this note,

Their movement in 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Thousands of euros 2024 2023

Balance at 1 January 611,410 531,702
Issues made during the year - 180,297
Current transfers of debt (63,256) (99,397)
Valuation adjustment at amortised cost 1,814 (1,192)

Balance at 31 December (note 7) 549,968 611,410

The maturity of the non-current non-convertible debentures at their nominal value at 31 December
2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Thousands of euros 2024 2023

Al two years 66,801 63,451
At three years - 66,801
At four years 95,326 -
At five or more years 395311 490,637
Total maturities 557,438 620,889

In November 2024, the tax-subsidised bond issue for the amount of 100,000 thousand euros
made by the Company in 2020 expired. It has been refinanced through a loan with an institutional
investor and a bank loan, both formalised for an amount of 50,000 thousand euros (notes 7 and
14),

In June 2023, with its maturity was amortised the 193,000 thousand euros issue of tax subsidised
bonds by the Company in 2013, replaced by a new issue of tax subsidised bonds in the amount
of 180,297 thousand euros, maturing in June 2030.

The Company has a current tax subsidised bond issue maturing in December 2025, whose value
at amortised cost at 31 December 2024 is 63,266 thousand euros (at 31 December 2023 the
Company had a current subsidised bond issue maturing in November 2024 whose value at
amortised cost was 99,461 thousand euros), which is expected to be refinanced at maturity for
the same amount, although based on the cash flow forecast prepared by the Company, the
directors consider that, if necessary, AUDASA will have sufficient financial capacity at that date
to repay the aforementioned issue

Accrued interest payable at 31 December 2024 was 1,057 thousand euros (1,228 thousand euros
at 31 December 2023). These amounts are recognised in the attached balance sheets under
current payables - debentures and other marketable securities.

In 2024, financial expenses were allocated to the income statement in application of the effective
interest rate method for an amount of 26,305 thousand euros (27,949 thousand euros in 2023)
(see note 19).
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
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Notes to the Annual Accounts
14. DEBT WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

On 27 September 2024, AUDASA signed a syndicated loan agreement worth 50,000 thousand
euros, which was drawn on 22 November 2024, with maturity and single repayment in November
2031, and an interest rate pegged to the six-month Euribor plus a differential and intended for the
partial refinancing of a tax-advantaged bond issue of 100,000 thousand euros, maturing on 25
November 2024. The loan is backed by its Sole Shareholder ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U,
without any interest rate hedges being taken out. The valuation of this loan at amortised cost at
31 December 2024 was 49,814 thousand euros.

On 16 December 2019, AUDASA signed a syndicated loan agreement worth 400,000 thousand
euros, which was paid on 1 April 2020, with maturity and single repayment in November 2024,
guaranteed by ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U., and an interest rate pegged to the six-month
Euribor plus a spread plus a spread, with no interest rate hedges having been taken out. In
November 2020 and December 2021, various partial, voluntary and early repayments were made
of said loan for the sum of 100,000 thousand euros and 50,300 thousand euros, respectively. On
17 May 2022, AUDASA made the early, partial and voluntary repayment of 164,800 thousand
euros of the syndicated loan, leaving an outstanding balance of 84,900 thousand euros. The
valuation of this loan at amortised cost at 31 December 2023 was 84,681 thousand euros. In
February 2024, the Company early cancelled the outstanding capital of 84,900 thousand euros.
This loan has been replaced by a new loan, for the same amount, with an institutional investor
{see note 7).

On 11 May 2021, AUDASA signed a syndicated loan agreement worth 66,111 thousand euros,
which was drawn on 31 May 2021, with maturity and single repayment in May 2026, and an
interest rate pegged to the six-month Euribor plus a spread to refinance an issue of low-tax
debentures for the same amount and with maturity on 31 May 2021. The loan is backed by its
Sole Shareholder ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A U, without any interest rate hedges being
taken out. The valuation of this loan at amortised cost at 31 December 2024 was 65,862 thousand
euros (65,688 thousand euros on 31 December 2023).

Some of the loan agreements provide for certain obligations, including compliance with a Debt
Service Coverage Ratio of no less than 1.05x, and limitations on the contracting of additional debt
over the total debt.

The Directors believe that the above clauses are fulfilled, and consequently, the lenders have no
grounds to terminate the contracts.

Accrued interest of this loans awaiting maturity at 31 December 2024 amounted to 968 thousand
euros (2,014 thousand euros at 31 December 2023). These amounts are recognised in the
attached abridged balance sheet under “Current debts - Debts with financial institutions”.

In 2024, financial expenses were allocated to the income statement in application of the effective
interest rate method for an amount of 4,359 thousand euros (8,044 thousand euros in 2023) (see
note 19).

Debts to credit entities have been broken down in Annex II.

15. PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

Details of the credit balances with Public Administration at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:
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Thousands of euros 2024 2023

Payable to Public Treasury

For tax withholdings 346 304
Payable to the Social Security 426 306
Payable to Public Administration,
creditors 772 610

16. TAX POSITION

As stated in Note 4(g), since 1 January 2009, the Company has filed its taxes as part of the
consolidated tax group 36/09 formed by ITINERE and the companies resident in Spanish territory,
which comprise its consolidated tax group.

Act 27/2014 of 27 November, published in the Spanish Official Gazette (BOE) on 28 November
2014, included, inter alia, the modification of the general income tax rate, which stands at 25%
for years beginning on 1 January 2016.

At 31 December 2024, the Company's accrued income tax expense amounted to 30,092
thousand euros (27,569 thousand euros at 31 December 2023).

A reconciliation of net income tax and the tax payable at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as
follows:

Thousands of euros 2024 2023

Net tax payable for the year 29,538 26,958
Withholdings and payments on account {26 617) (23,774)
Income tax payable (note 17) 2,921 3,184

The reconciliation between the net amount of the year's income and expenses and the corporate
income tax base, which the Company expects to contribute to the 2024 financial year's
consolidated tax return and that contributed to the 2023 financial year's tax return, is as follows:

2023

Income and
Incoma exXpenses At
recognised Te
statement . .
directly in
Thousands of euros cquity
Balance of income and expenses n Lhe year 90,274 (2013) 88,261 82,5786 {2,008} 80,568
Income tax 30,092 {672) 29.420 27,569 (669) 26,900
Parmanent differences: 3 3 132 132
Qther 3 3 132 132
Timing differences: {2,217} 2,688 468 {2,448) 2ETT 2
Asising in prior ysars {2,.222) 2685 463 {2.420} 2607 257
Reversal of the imit 10 the deductibility of
redemplions (2,160} 12,1600 (2,160} {2,160)
Imputation of subsidies {nole 11} & GRS 2685 2687 2677
Pension plans {63 62) {260] {260)
Anising in the year L 5 {26} (26)
Pension plans 2 5 {26} (26)
Taxable income 118,152 118,152 107,831 107,831
Total smount {tax result) 29538 29,538 26,958 26,958
Net tax payable 29,638 29,538 26,958 26,958
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
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Notes to the Annual Accounts
A reconciliation of the income tax expense with the result of applying the pertinent tax rate to total
recognised income and expense, differentiating between current and deferred tax, for 2024 and
2023, is as follows:

2023

Income and
Income T Income ’2222':?:5(‘ Tola
statement m stalement di g:| ie ;
Thousands of curos irectiy in
equity
Profit bafore 1axes from continued operations 120, 366 {2 E8%5) 117 & 110.145 {2.677) 107 468
Applicable lax rate 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%
Theaoretical tax burden 30,091 (672) 29,419 27,536 {669) 26,867
Effect of
Nari-deduclibia axpenses 1 1 33 - a3
Effective tax expense 30,092 (672) 29,420 27,569 {669) 26,900
Detail
Current 9,538 * 25,538 26,958 286,958
Defsaired 554 - 554 611 811
Income tax 30,092 - 30,082 27,569 - 7,589

Details of tax recognised directly in equity at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as foliows:

2024 2023
Thousands of euros Ineraas Decrease Total Inesradge Decrease Tona
Defarred tax:
Ansu in pnor years. LT &) (669) {669)
Imputation of subsidies (note 11) - (BT2} {ETE) - (669) {669)
Tetal deforred tax - {672) {672) - (669) {669)
Total tax recognised directly in equity - {872) 872) - (668} (669}

Details and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as
follows:

ASSETS
. Deductible . LIA
Thousands of euros co:’::t?i?::gnts ; iftfi.-nr‘;:%es d::::tli‘::%s Total sl
Balance at 31/12/2022 465 1,080 324 1,869 17,157
Additions - ; : i )
Disposals (71) (540) (611) (669)
Balance at 31/12/2023 394 540 324 1,258 16,488
Disposals (14} (540) - (554) (672}
Other 3 - - 3 -
Balance at 31/12/2024 383 - 324 707 15,816

As a result of outsourcing the pension commitments at 1 December 2000, the Company's
directors considered that the necessary circumstances had been met to consider recovery of the
expenses treated as non-deductible in the annual allocations to the internal fund and, therefore,
the insurance premium expenses accrued from that time (see note 4(j)), which has led to the
recognition of the corresponding deferred tax asset.
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Act 1612012 of 27 December sets a limit of 70% on the deductibility of amortisation and
depreciation of intangible fixed assets, property, plant and equipment and investment property for
tax periods beginning in 2013 and 2014. Furthermore, non-tax deductible accounting amortisation
and depreciation shall be deducted on a straight-line basis over a period of 10 years or the useful
life of the asset, as of the first tax period beginning in 2015. As a result of the above, at 31
December 2024, the Company has deducted all the aforementioned depreciation (at 31
December 2023 it had recorded a deferred tax asset of 520 thousand euros in this connection).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the refundable advances extended to the Company are
recognised at amortised cost, giving rise to the recognition of deferred tax liability for the
difference in respect of the amount reimbursed.

In relation to the deferred tax asset derived from the limit to the deductibility of amortisation and
depreciation, set out by Act 16/2012 of 27 December, transitional provision 37 of Act 27/2014 of
27 November states that companies can deduct from income tax payable 5% of the amounts
included in taxable income for the tax period, resulting from the tax reversal of the expense
adjusted for non-deductible amortisation and depreciation charges in 2013 and 2014 (2%
deduction in 2015). Therefore, as a result of the above, at 31 December 2024 and 2023 the
Company had recognised deductions pending application amounting to 324 thousand euros for
reversal of the temporary measures.

Pursuant to the provisions of article 30 bis of Act 27/2014, of 27 November, regarding Corporate
Income Tax introduced by Act 22/2021, of 28 December, taking effect as from 1 January 2022, a
"Minimum Taxation" was determined for taxpayers whose net revenues amount is at least 20
million euros or which are taxed under the tax consolidation regime. Generally speaking, the tax
liability may not be less than 15% of taxable income. Nevertheless, by way of exception, the
application is permitted, inter alia, of double taxation deductions up to a limit of 50% of the net tax
liability and this liability after the application of the double taxation deductions is regarded as the
minimum net tax liability. As a result of the above, in the financial years of 2022 and subsequent
the Company was unable to apply the deduction owing to the reversal of temporary measures
foreseen in transitory provision thirty-seven of Act 27/2014, pertaining to the depreciation no
deducted for Corporate income Tax in the financial years of 2013 and 2014.

Under current legislation, taxes cannot be deemed to have been finally settled until the tax returns
filed have been inspected by the tax authorities or until the four-year statute-of-limitations period
has expired. However, due to the extraordinary COVID-19 measures approved by the
Government, the period from 18 March 2020 to 3 June 2020, inclusive, does not count towards
the expiry period. Furthermore, this suspension of the terms of expiry is only applicable to those
which, without taking it into account, end before 1 July 2021.

On 7 February 2024, the Group's parent company and the Company received notification from
the tax authorities of the commencement of tax audits and investigations into corporate income
tax for 2013 and 2020, and value added tax, corresponding to the period between January and
December 2020. As at the date of preparation of these Annual Accounts, the Company complies
with the inspection's requests for documentation.

In accordance with the foregoing and in general, without considering the suspension of the
limitation period stemming from COVID-19, the Company has all the main taxes that are
applicable thereto from 1 January 2021 open for inspection by the tax authorities (fiscal year
ended 31 December 2018 for corporate income tax and periods from January 2020 and those
that follow for Value Added Tax). Nevertheless, the Administration's right to check or investigate
the tax losses that are offset or available for carryforward, the double taxation deductions and the
deductions to incentivise certain activities applied or pending application has a statute of
limitations of 10 years starting from the day after that on which the period established for filing the
return or self-settlement corresponding to the tax period in which the right to offsetting or
application was generated Once that period has elapsed, the Company must accredlt the tax
losses or deductions by submitting the tax return or self-settlement an %
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Notes to the Annual Accounts

with accreditation of their deposit during that period in the Mercantile Registry. As a result of the
different possible interpretations of the tax legislation in force and other factors, additional
liabilities may arise due to an inspection. The directors believe that those liabilities, if they occur,
will not have a material impact on the Annual Accounts.

17. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH GROUP COMPANIES

The debit and credit balances with group companies, associates and other related parties at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023
c::::::.y O“t:\"e: group .:\ssorcia!ed Total c:;r::; , Othe: group Assc:ciaged Total
Thousands of suros
Trade balances - 133 1,754 1,887 29 625 2,219 2,873
Autoesiradas de Galicia, AG . CX.G . SAU o a4 94 - 94
Autopista Aslur Leonaesa, C E.S.A. SAU 2 12 12 - ] 16
Autopistas de Navarra CES A L} - & is - LE]
ltinere Infraestruciuras, 5.A - 1 1
Geslion infraest. Viarias de Bizkaia $.A. - 15 15 - 496 - 496
ENA Infraestructuras S AL . - . 28 - | 29
Bip & Drive. E.D.E., S.A - 1 754 1,754 - 2,219 2219
Current debit balances {(noles 7 and 8) - 133 1,754 1,887 29 825 2,219 2,373
Current investments in Group companies 6,845 - - 6,845 6,090 - - 8,000
ENA Infraestruciuras, $.A L. BBa5 - 5,845 5,030 . - E0E0
Current financial investments balances {note
7 6,845 - 5,845 6,090 - - 6,090
Non-current investments in Group companies 432,817 - - 132,817 97,643 B - 97,613
EMA Infraestiucturas, S.4.U 132817 - = | 132817 BT.ae13 - STE13
Non-current financial investment balances
{note 7) 132,817 S - 132,817 87,613 = . 97,613
Credit balances 495 5454 5 5,954 234 6177 5 65416
Autopisia Aslur Leonesa, CES.A, S.AL. - 28 - 28 1 - 1
ltinere Infraestructuras, $.A. Income Tax = 2921 2921 - 3,184 3,184
Itinere Infraestructuras, S.A. VAT consolidation - 1.667 - 1.667 1.974 - 1.974
Itiners Infraestructuras, S A - 824 - 24 - 1,018 1018
Auloestradas da Galicia, AG CXG ,SALL - 14 - 14
ENA Infraestructuras, S A.U. 495 . - 495 234 - - 234
Bip & Dnive, ED.E.. S.A. o - L} 5 - 5 5
Cusrent credit batances {note 7) 495 5,454 5 5,954 234 8,177 5 6416

The Company has formed part of the special VAT regime group 0157/10 headed by ITINERE
infraestructuras, S.A. with effect from 1 January 2010. At 31 December 2024, the Company had
VAT payable of 1,667 thousand euros (1,974 thousand euros at 31 December 2023).

On 16 February 2016, the Company signed a loan with its Sole Shareholder ENA pursuant to
which provisions were made that at 31 December 2022 amounted to 97,726 thousand euros.
During financial year 2023, the Company formalised a new annex to that loan contract by virtue
of which a new drawdown amounting to 35,000 thousand euros was made. Furthermore, on 3
October 2023 8,000 thousand euros were amortised and on 27 November 2023 the Board of
Directors decided upon the distribution of an interim dividend of the profits distributable as at 31
October 2023 for the sum of 29,000 thousand euros which was paid in December 2023 through
the partial compensation of said loan. During financial year 2024, the Company formalised a new
annex to that loan contract by virtue of which a new drawdown amounting to 40,000 thousand
euros was made. On the other hand, on 25 June 2024 the Board of Directors resolved to distribute
an interim dividend for the remaining amount of distributable profi 1.December 2023, which
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was paid in June 2024 and used by the Sole Shareholder to partially repay the aforementioned
loan in the amount of 11,575 thousand euros.

This loan accrues a variable interest rate pegged to 1-year Euribor plus a spread; if the interest
is not paid at the end of the settlement period, it will be capitalised; and its maturity is February
2026, which can be extended for annual periods. During 2024 the aforementioned loan has
acerued interest amounting to 7,534 thousand euros, having capitalised 6,779 thousand euros
(6,367 thousand euros and 1,887 thousand euros, respectively, in 2023) (see note 19). At 31
December 2024, 6,845 thousand euros are pending collection (6,090 thousand euros at 31
December 2023), with the loan standing at 132,817 thousand euros (97,613 thousand euros at
31 December 2023).

Details of transactions with group companies, associates and other related parties in 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

Thousands of euros

Management or boration tract: 3,309 6,467 - 9,776 2,648 6,158 e 8,006
ENA Infraestruciuras, SA U 3,309 . - 3,309 2648 - = 2648
lhinere Infraestructuras. S AU, - & 467 6467 = 6158 E £ 158

COther expenses - 631 215 746 - 471 169 640
Autopista Astur Leonesa, S.AU - - - 6 L
Enatinere, SA U - 24 24 - 24 24
Itinere Infraestruciuras, S.AU - 507 - 507 441 - 441
Bp & Drive ED.E SA - 215 216 - - 169 169

Total expenses 3,309 6,998 215 10,522 2,848 6,629 169 9,446

Manag 1t or collaborati - 916 - 2l . 87 H XA
Autoesiradas de Galicia, AG..CXG 8AU - a6 916 - 871 . 1Al

Provision of services 14 628 35,411 36,063 24 562 27,848 28,434
Autopisias de Navarra, $ A - 82 - 82 70 - 70
Autopista Astur Leonasa, S A U - 115 - 115 - 50 - 50
Auloestradas de Galicia, A.G.,C.X.G.SAL. - 332 332 = 21 21
Bip & Drive, ED.E. S.A. - 35411 35,411 - 27848 | 27 848
Gestion Infraesl Viarias de Bizkaia 5.A - 99 . 99 - 421 421
ENA Infrasstructuras, 5 A L. 14 - s 14 24 - 24

Financial income 7.534 - - 7.534 6,387 E - 6,367
ENA Infraestructuras, S A U (note 18) 7534 - 7.534 & 367 - - 6357

Total Income 7,548 1,544 35411 44,503 6,391 1,433 27,848 | 36,672

The transactions with related parties refer to the Company’s normal business and are carried out
on an arm’s length basis.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company receives royalty charges for general,
administrative and technical control expenses from its sole shareholder and from the parent
company of the group it belongs to, in accordance with the contracts signed between the
companies.
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
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18. NET REVENUES

Net toll income in 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Thousands of euros 2024

Cash 12,794
External cards 37.593
Electronic collection device 106,755
Rebates R D.681/2021 (note 8) 42,246
Rebates R.D.20/2022 (nole 8) 6,748
Shadow toll road, net of rebates {note 8) 12,952
25% discount (8,998)
Net Revenues 210,090

2023
14,084
35,125
92,472
36,719

9,215
12,625
(7,679)

192,561

All the revenues recorded by the Company in 2024 and 2023 was obtained in Spain.

19. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

The breakdown of financial income is as follows:

Thousands of euros 2024

Interest on credits with group companies {note 17) 7.534
Administration Interest 1,296
Interest on debt securities (notes 7 y 9) 689
Other interests and similar income 634
Financial income 10,153

The item "Interest with the Administration” includes interest accrued on the basis of R.D. 633/2006

and R.D. 20/2022 (see note 8).

Under the heading "Interest on debt securities", the Company records financial income from
investments in fixed-income securities with maturities of more and less than 3 months. During the
financial year 2024, the Company has accrued financial income from this type of investments
amounting to 402 thousand euros and 287 thousand euros, respectively (59 thousand euros and

308 thousand euros in the financial year 2023, respectively).

In addition, during the financial year 2024, the Company has recorded under "Other interest and
similar income" financial income from interest-bearing current accounts amounting to 630

thousand euros (104 thousand euros in the financial year 2023).
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.

(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes fo the Annual Accounts

Details of financial expenses are as follows.

20. STAFF

Thousands of euros 2024 2023

Interests with credit institutions {note 14) 4,359 8.044
Interest with other institutions (note 7) 8,309 4,553
Interests on debentures (note 13) 26,305 27,949
Interests on liabilities revision {note 7) 1,835 1,758
Other interests 194 193
Financial provision adjustment (note 12) 908 903
Deferred financial expenses (note 5) (22.510) (24,155)
Financial expenses 19,400 19,245

The average headcount in 2024 and 2023, broken down by category, has been as follows:

3
20
21

191

2024 2023
Managers 3
Technical staff 19
Administrative staff 21
Other staff 194
Total 237

234

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the breakdown of the Company's headcount by category and
gender is as follows:

Men Women
2024 2023 2024 2023
Managers 3 3 5 -
Technical staff 11 1" g 8
Administrative staff 3 4 18 17
Other staff 111 117 98 a5
Total 128 135 125 120

Total
2024 2023
3 3
20 19
2 29
209 212
253 255

In 2016, the average number of employees with a disability of 33% or higher is as follows:

Administrative staff 1 1
Other staff 6 4
Total 7 5

Of the total personnel expenses for 2024, 3,047 thousand euros comprise the social security
costs paid by the Company (2,687 thousand euros at 31 December 2023) and 5 thousand euros
to the expense derived from the net amount of the annual insurance premium for the
supplementary pension benefits (income of 26 thousand euros at 31 December 2023) (see note

4 ().

In 2024 and 2023, all the members of the Board of Directors were men.

Autopistas def Attantico, Concesionaria Espafiola, 2024 Annual Acf

PILAR BENITEZ MART!
L IRADBRIOBA S HERPRETE JURADA D)

namero 325




AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
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21. INFORMATION ABOUT COMPANY DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remunerations paid to the Senior Management during the financial years of 2024 and 2023
amounted to 460 and 484 thousand euros, respectively. In 2024 and 2023, members of the Board
of Directors received remuneration of 54 thousand euros per year in their capacity as directors.
The Company had no Senior Management staff who were on the Board of Directors.

in 2024 and 2023, the Company has not extended any loans or credit, undertaken any pension
plan or insurance commitments, nor does it have any balances receivable from or payable to
members of the Board of Directors or Senior Management at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
Likewise, the Company has not paid any civil hability insurance premiums for directors and
managers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, ITINERE, the parent company of the Group to which
the Company belongs, has civil corporate liability policies for the directors and managers which
cover the directors and managers of the Group companies who represent them.

In 2024 and 2023, the Company's directors did not carry out any transactions with the Company
or any other of the Group Companies outside their ordinary business or in conditions other than
on an arm's length basis. Simitarly, the Company's directors and the persons related or linked to
them have not been involved in any situation of conflict of interest that, pursuant to the provisions
of article 229 of the consolidated text of Corporate Enterprises Act, needs to be notified.

22. GUARANTEES UNDERTAKEN WITH THIRD PARTIES AND OTHER CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

(a) Guarantees to third parties

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company has been granted bank guarantees in favour of
the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility as construction and operating guarantees for
the following amounts:

Thousands of euros 2024 2023

Construction guarantees 13,730 13,730
Performance guarantees 28,772 28,772
Guarantees 42,502 42,502

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the construction and operating guarantees amounting to 28,481
thousand euros are backed by ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U.

The Company's Directors are of the opinion that no liabilities will arise as a result of those
guarantees.

{b} Other Contingent Liabilities

The Company is involved in legal and out-of-court proceedings within the ordinary course of their
activities (disputes with suppliers, customers, public administrations, private persons, employees,
etc.). The appropriate provisions are made in those cases in which it is considered that there is a
possibility of a ruling going against the Company. The directors are of the opinion that, in the
event of a ruling against the Group, none of these proceedings will have a significant effect on
the financial information for the 2024 financial year.

The following are the most relevant matters that, in this respect, the Company has pending as at
31 December 2024;

T -
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(i) Ordinary Proceeding number 344/18

On 8 May 2019, AUDASA was notified of the ordinary lawsuit filed by the Prosecutor’'s Office
against the company, followed at the Court of First Instance of Pontevedra with Ordinary
Proceeding number 344/18, exercising the collective action of cessation, defence of the
undefined interests of consumers and users, nullity of the abusive practice and accessory
refund of the amounts received in such concept, and claim for damages. Court no.1 of
Pontevedra passed a judgement on 21 February 2020 whereby it partially upheld the claim
brought. On 19 April 2021, the Court of Appeal of Pontevedra fully revoked the previous
judgement, acquitting the concessionary company of any claim. There was an appeal for
reversal against the judgement before the Supreme Court by the Public Prosecutor, the
Company having opposed such an appeal. The case has been pending since 12 June 2023.

(i) Ordinary Proceeding number 807/2021

On 29 December 2021, notification was received of a claim for payment against AUDASA
filed by Francisco Gomez y Cia, y, Puentes y Calzadas which was heard by the Court of First
Instance No. 2 of A Corufa, amounting to 10,9 million euros in relation to execution of the
works contract to carry out the renovation works to increase the capacity of the AP-9 between
Santiago Norte-Santiago Sur. The Company object to all the claims of the claimants, bringing
a counterclaim against them for the sum of 7.4 million euros. On 29 July 2024, a judgement
was handed down partially upholding the claim against AUDASA, ordering it to pay
108,064.75 euros plus legal interest from the date of the court summons and dismissing the
counterclaim in its entirety. The judgement has been appealed by the applicant.

(iii) European Commission summons the Spanish Government

On 23 September 2021, AUDASA became aware of the publication on the European
Commission's website of the sending of a letter of formal notice to the Kingdom of Spain to
ensure the correct application of European Union rules on public procurement and
concession contracts.

On 24 April 2024, the European Commission sent a second letter of formal notice to the
Kingdom of Spain, in addition to the first one, in which: (i) it broadened the subject matter of
the infringement proceedings by adding the modification and extension of the AP-66 toll road,
operated by the Group Company AUTOPISTA ASTUR LEONESA, S.A. (Hereinafter,
AUCALSA)- about which the European Commission received a complaint after the adoption
of the First Letter - as well as the public sale of the state-owned company ENAUSA (now ENA
INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A., hereinafter, ENA); and (ii) it added an additional legal basis to
the alleged infringement concerning the modification and extension of the AP-9 toll road
concession. In the second letter, the Commission called on the Kingdom of Spain to send its
comments within two months, but subsequently, at the request of the Kingdom of Spain, an
extension of two additional months was granted to send its comments.

In this regard, in a similar case brought by the European Commission against the Federal
Republic of Germany, dated 17 October 2024, the Advocate General of the European Court
of Justice has submitted conclusions in a preliminary ruling in case C-452/23, which should
strengthen the position of the Kingdom of Spain in the infringement proceedings brought by
the European Commission.

Although AUDASA, AUCALSA and ENA have not received any notification regarding the two
letters of formal notice, nor is it party to the procedure that could arise, the Directors believe
that any measures which could consider the amendment or termination of the concession
contracts in force for reasons not attributable to the companies and on the grounds of the
public interest as a consequence or not of the adoption or said measures, would entail, in any
case, and in accordance with the legislation in force, the companies’ right to be duly
compensated. [-— —_— e
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(c) Other

(i) Ordinary Proceeding number 177/2022

On 16 November 2022, AUDASA filed a claim against the Galicia Regional Government in
order for it to be declared that this administration is required to pay the company 50% of the
shadow toll pertaining to the financial years of 2020 and 2021, plus the attendant interest in
accordance with the Royal Decree in force 633/2006 of 19 May. In light of ruling 60/2024, of
12 March 2024, of the Contentious-Administrative Court No. 2 of Santiago de Compostela,
by virtue of which it is recognised that (i) AUDASA's right to receive the full amount provided
for in the contract without being prejudiced by the Agreements between the General State
Administration and the Regional Administration, (ii) it is declared that AUDASA does not have
any contractual link with the Regional Administration and (iii) is stated that the Genera! State
Administration will have to assume the contractual obligations derived from Royal Decree
633/2006 of 19 May, AUDASA has filed an appeal against this decision, with a decision
expected in 2025, For the years 2022 and 2023, the amounts due have been claimed from
the Galicia Regional Government.

23. ENVIRONMENT

Usual work is carried out for protecting and improving the environment and for integrating the toll
road into the surrounding landscape. The most frequent work involves mowing grass on verges,
central reservations and landscaped areas, maintaining rest and services areas, planting, pruning
hedges and laying topsoil over barren areas.

Ordinary expenses for the aforementioned work in 2024 amounted to 2,102 thousand euros
(1,588 thousand euros in 2023).

No provision is considered necessary to cover possible expenses or risks relating to
environmental actions.

24. INFORMATION ABOUT THE NATURE AND RISKS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As indicated in note 1, the Company's corporate purpose consists of exercising the rights and
fulfiling the obligations derived from the concession arrangement signed with the granting
Administration, which establishes the right to redress the financial balance should circumstances
beyond the control of the concession operator arise, which significantly limits the risks associated
with the activity.

Policies for managing the financial instrument-related risks applicable to the Company are
determined largely by legislation and reguiations specific to the infrastructure concessions sector,
the concession and financing contract, and the nature of the project itself,

The Company’s financial policy and management is determined and executed by the Financial
Department of ITINERE, the Company’s majority shareholder. The latter has established
markedly conservative policies regarding the use of financial instruments such as not entering
info speculative transactions with derivatives or the investment of cash surpluses solely in low-
risk financial products

The following is a brief analysis of the different risk factors related to financial instruments:

¢ Credit risk: |s virtually non-existent because Company income is paid in cash or through
electronic means or credit cards, whose default risk is borne by the issuers, or take the form
of payments from the granting Administration made in accordance with the terms of the
concession.
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* Liquidity Risk: The Company's liquidity risk is limited due to the nature of collections and
payments, its EBITDA and financial structure, its system of tariffs and the predictable,
systematic investment programme for asset replacement. The Company aims to maintain
the liquidity it needs to settle its payment obligations at any given time.

* Interest rate risk: The structure, type of financing, coverage, guarantees and, in short,
the most appropriate financial instruments are selected according to the nature and risks
inherent to the project in order to eliminate or mitigate them as much as possible taking the
cosl/risk factor into consideration.

As mentioned in note 14, at 31 December 2024, the Company has entered into two
syndicated loan agreements at a variable interest rate. Any possible change of + 100 basis
points with respect to the interest rate prevailing at year-end would have a quantitative effect
which would entail an impact on net profit for the fiscal year of + 878 thousand euros.

» Refinancing risk is low as the business is an operational toll road with recurrent income
and cash flows which tend to rise. A financial transaction represented by an emission of low-
tax debentures that the Company issued in 2015, totalling 63,451 thousand euros, will
mature in December 2025. In this regard, as mentioned in note 13, it is foreseen that, on the
maturity date of the aforementioned issue of tax subsidised bonds, this will be refinanced by
means of a new credit facility for the same amount, although the Directors consider that, if
necessary, the Company will have sufficient financial capacity on that date to repay the
aforementioned issue.

In relation to this refinancing, it is worth highlighting the Group's extensive experience in this
type of operations to raise funds in capital and debt markets, which, even in adverse
situations, has allowed financing operations to be successfully concluded, which is a clear
indicator of the confidence of financial institutions in the project developed by AUDASA.

* Exchange rate risk: The Company's debt is denominated in the same currency as the
cash flows of its business. Likewise, only a few transactions are made in non-euro
currencies. Consequently, there is currently no significant currency risk.

* Price risk: The Company is not exposed to price risk as it operates in a regulated market
and tariffs are inflation-linked (CPI).

Other risks to which the Company is exposed are as follows:

e Climate change risk: Climate change and its consequences is one of the greatest
challenges facing humankind in environmental, social and economic terms, requiring active
management by all the players involved.

Greenhouse gas emissions mainly generated by the use of fossil fuels have accelerated
global warming in recent decades and their effects are already visible.

The ITINERE Group is fully aware of the major challenge that climate change represents
and it is committed to improving its performance with regard to environmental sustainability,
taking measures which seek to minimise the environmental impact in all its fields of action,
promoting energy saving and resources and contributing to the upkeep and improvement of
our environment.

With this in mind, the Group is considering environmental aspects in transversal fashion,
seeking more sustainable options and the continuous improvement of its processes.

* Geopolitical risk: At present, geopolitics is the main risk to financial stability which may
be affected by economic and financial disruptions caused by, among others, the war in
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Ukraine, the situation in the Middle East, trade tensions with China, possible cyber-attacks,
as well as the policies to be implemented by the new US administration, which are also an
additional element in geopolitical tensions on a global scale.

In the event that the ITINERE Group's activity could be directly affected by risks of this nature,
an exhaustive analysis would be carried out of their implications in all areas, with the aim of
designing specific geostrategic actions to be incorporated into its business model, which
would enable it to capitalise on the opportunities and mitigate the risks.

» Connection between financial reporting and sustainability reporting: The ITINERE
Group is fully aware of the importance of the sustainability issues affecting its member
companies, not only in relation to the risks of this nature to which they are exposed, or how
their activities affect the environment in which they operate, but also with regard to the need
for the information provided in this area to be useful, comparable and verifiable, thus
complying with the objectives of sustainable development. In this regard, there should be
connectivity between the different reports issued by companies, so that the needs of relevant
information to be provided to investors and regulators are covered, providing information that
allows for an adequate understanding of the implications of sustainability-related aspects,
consistent with financial information.

The ITINERE Group is currently working on the implementation of the CSRD Directive in
order to meet the objectives of promoting transparency and quality in reporting, the
implementation of European norms and standards common to all member countries, the
homogenisation and standardisation of corporate information, as well as facilitating the
transition towards sustainability by identifying gaps. The ultimate aim is to enable any
interested party to assess the non-financial performance of companies, while encouraging a
more responsible approach to business, enabling more effective management of non-current
risks related to non-financial factors such as environmental regulations, changes in social
expectations and opportunities arising from sustainable innovation.

25. OTHERINFORMATION

In financial years 2024 and 2023, the fees charged by PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L.
for their auditing services totalled 30,800 euros and 29,900 euros, respectively.

PricewaterhouseCaoopers Auditores, S.L. has provided the Company with accounting verification
services for financial year 2024, with fees amounting to 18,500 euros (14,000 euros for financial
year 2023).

During the financial years of 2024 and 2023, PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. did not
provide any fiscal services, nor any other services whose provision by the accounts’ auditors is
required under the applicable regulations.

At the same time, no subsidiary companies of the PwC network invoiced the Company for
amounts during the 2024 and 2023 financial years.

26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
» [nterim dividend
On 27 January 2025, the Board of Directors resolved to distribute the interim dividend out
of distributable profit at 30 November 2024 amounting to 38,000,000.00 euros, equivalent
to 1.1657 euros per share, which will be paid on 11 February 2025.

Pursuant to the consolidated text of the Corporate Enterprises Act, the aforementioned
distribution was prepared based on profits at 30 November 2024 and the following forecast
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cash statement for the one-year period from the date of adoption of the distribution
agreement:

Thousands
of euros

Profit until 30 November 2024 84,611
Distributable profit at 30 November 2024 84,611
Interim dividend distributed {39.000)
interim dividend to be distributed 38,000
Estimated liquid assets for a period of one year after 27 January 2025
Liguid assets balance at 27 January 2025 44,314
Collections and payments foreseen until 27 January 2026 57,323
Projected liquid assets balance at 27 January 2026 101,637

Reordering and simplification of intercompany debt

Within the framework of the debt refinancing carried out by the subsidiary ENAITINERE,
S.A., Sole Shareholder of ENA, on 17 February 2025, a subordinated loan agreement was
entered into between the Company and ENA to regulate the credit relations between the
two companies and which entails the total cancellation and termination of the loan
agreement existing to date (note 17). This loan provides for a variable interest rate tied to
the 12-month Euribor plus a margin, and provides for the capitalisation of interest in the
event that it is not paid at the end of the corresponding settiement period. It is expected to
mature in 2035.

(" pILAR BENITEZ MARTIN
Autopistas del Atlantico, Concesionaria Espafiola, 2024 Annual Acio_?g&rqugféRPRETE JURADA DE
i numero 325

] P —



AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A.
(Sociedad Unipersonal)

Notes to the Annual Accounts

Annex |
Details of the Debentures at
31 December 2024 and 2023
(in thousands of euros)
Thousands of euros Diate 31 Decesnber 2023
Nominal | Year of MNon-
Descriptionfagent amaunt issue Mlurity Current current Total
CAIXABANK 63,451 2015 December - 2025 375 63,266 - 63,266 - B63.0M 63,071
CAIXABANK 66,801 2016 May - 2026 3.15 - 66,539 66,539 - 66,342 66,342
CAIXABANK 95,326 2018 March - 2028 3.15 - 94,237 94,237 - 9393 93,913
CAIXABANK 100,000 2020 November - 2024 1.60 - - 99,461 99,461
CAIXABANK 50,251 2021 December - 2031 210 - 49316 49,316 - 49191 49,191
CAIXABANK 164,763 2022 May - 2029 3.50 - 162,172 162,172 - 161,620 161,620
CAIXABANK 180,297 2023 June - 2030 4.40 - 177,704 177,704 - 177,273 177,273
520,889 Total Issued debentures 63,266 549,968 613,234 99,461 611,410 710,871

Al 31 December 2024, the fair values of the outstanding debentures do not differ significantly from their carrying amounts.
These issues are listed on the AIAF, which is the benchmark fixed income market in Spain for Public and Corporate Debt
securities. It is part of BME. the company that manages the infrastructure of the Spanish financial markets. Their fair
values are shown on the following website:

http:/iwww.aiaf.es/esp/aspx/aiaf/Precios.aspx

AIAF is a regulated market pursuant UE directives, as opposed to the over-the-counter markets, and is subject to control
and supervision by the pertinent authorities regarding their functioning and how they list securities and disseminate
information,

This appendix forms an integral part of note 13 of the Annual Accounts,
which must be read together.
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Breakdown of Debts with Credit Institutions

Original
amount

400,000
66,111
50,000

Start
date

2020
2021
2024

Maturity

2024
2026
2031

Interest rate

Euribor 6m + 1.15%
Eunbor 6m + 1. 15%

Eurtbor 6m + 1.15%

Total debt with credit ingtitutions

31 December 2024 and 2023
{in thousands of euros)

31 December 2024

Annex |l

31 December 2023

This appendix forms an integral part of note 14 of the Annual Accounts,

which must be read together.

Non- Non-

Current Errant Total Current current Totai
84,681 84,681
65862 65862 65,688 65,688
- 49814 49814 - .
o68 - 968 2,014 2,014
968 115,676 116,644 86,695 65,688 152,383
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1. ComMmPANY BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND POSITION

During financial year 2024, traffic closed the year exceeds the level attained in 2019, the
last year of normality before the COVID-19 pandemic. After the uncertainty that followed
after the COVID-19 pandemic, in 2024 the intensity of traffic on the Company's toll road
consolidated, as seen during the 2023 financial year, which had been progressively
recovering since the complete lifting of mobility restrictions in May 2021,

Inflation remains the main concern as it remains at high levels, despite closing at lower
levels than in 2023. Rising leisure prices have reinforced upward pressures on prices,
although prices are still on the downward path that started in 2023. Inflation is expected
to continue to fall in the coming years to rates close to 2%.

In this context of relative economic recovery, the Company focused its efforts on
strengthening its strategy, aligned with that of the ITINERE group to which it belongs,
mainly aimed at promoting digitisation and the drive towards more sustainable
development. All of which, lending continuity to its policy to maintain the quality of the
service provided to users, particularly in terms of road safety. Hence, an investment plan
was implemented with a view to keep increasing the safety and convenience of users.

Traffic subject to toll collection increased 4.22% year-on-year, represented by an increase
of 4.20% for light vehicles (92% of the total traffic of the toll) and an increase of 4.46% for
heavy vehicles.

Total average daily traffic (ADT) for the operational sections with tolls was 23,655 vehicles
(22,697 vehicles in 2023). Furthermore, the total mean daily intensity of the toll road in
2024, which included both toll stretches and free roads, stood at 26,505 vehicles (25,458
vehicles during 2023).

Pursuant to Act 14/2000 of 29 December setting out the procedure for revising tariffs and
tolfs on toll roads owned by the State, authorisation was granted for a review of tariffs,
effective from 1 January 2024. As a result of this review, tariffs and tolls were increased
by +3.94%. In addition, the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility authorised the
one-off increase of 1% to address the construction work to increase capacity (Royal
Decree 1733/2011). As a result the total review of tariffs since the beginning of the year
was +4.98%.

However, it should be pointed out that article 51 of Royal Decree-Law 20/2022 of 27
December regarding measures to respond to the economic and social consequences of
the Ukraine War and to support the reconstruction of the island of La Palma and other
vulnerable situations, approved a one-off, temporary subsidy for the revision of tariffs and
tolls on the toll roads owned by the General State Administration, in such a way that, from
the revision of the ordinary tariffs to be applied as of 2023, users would bear a maximum
tariff increase of 4% and the rest of the resuiting revision is assumed by the Ministry of
Transport and Sustainable Mobility. The aforementioned Royal Decree-Law establishes
that, as from 2024, the percentage assumed by the Ministry will be progressively reduced,
a reduction which will be established by ministerial order, at the proposal of the
Government Delegation in the National Toll Road Concessionary Companies, before 1
January of each year, and this subsidy must be eliminated by 31 December 2026 at the
latest.

The excellent growth in use of the toll collection system is noteworthy, which has steadily
increased since it was implemented and especially from March 2020 onwards as a result
of the health crisis. The coming into force of Royal Decree 681/2021 of 27 July was
another factor which contributed to the increased use of the toll collection system (see
note 1 (f) of the attached report) which attains mean levels pf 74.5% of 1 ith-regard—
VT Lt
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to total passages (72.1% in 2023). The 51 toll collection lanes, together with the 72
automatic collection lanes currently in use, account for 98.5% of total passages at the
end of financial year 2024 (98.2% of total passages at year-end 2023).

Operating costs - excluding other profits/losses, the provision for depreciation and
provisions for replacements and provisions for commercial transactions - amounted to
39.9 million euros (30.3 million in 2023). As a result, the EBITDA margin was 83.5%,
slightly lower to the 86.0% recorded the previous year.

The operating income as at 31 December 2024 (129.6 million euros) was up 8.1 million
€uros on a year-on-year basis, which represents a 6.7% increase and which can mainiy
be put down to a 17.5 million euros increase in toll income for 2024 (+9.1%), the increase
of 2.0 million euros in other operating expenses, mainly due to the formalisation of new
service area operation contracts, effects partially offset by an increase in external service
expenses of 1.8 million euros, expenses related to property tax due to the end of the 95%
discount on special property tax (BICE) of 7.1 million euros, staff expenses of 0.7 million
euros and the allocation to the provision for replacement and major repair work of 2.2
million euros based on the multi-annual investment plan envisaged by the Company until
the end of the concession.

The financial expenses accrued by the Company amounted to 41.0 million euros, lower
than the 42.5 million euros accrued in 2023, mainly due to the expensing in 2023 of
expenses associated with the planned early refinancing and lower bond arrangement
expenses in 2024 compared to the previous year. The application of the sectoral
accounting standards implies that part of the financial expenses associated with both the
financing of the original concession-based asset and the extension (22.5 million euros in
2024 and 24.2 million euros in 2023) are activated under the heading of "Concession
Agreement, Financial Activation” (see note 19 of the attached annual report). The
financial income accrued by the Company in the financial year of 2024 amounted to 10.2
million euros, 2.3 million euros higher than that accrued in 2023 mainly owing to the
increase in interest accrued from the loan granted to the Sole Shareholder as new
drawdowns were carried out in 2024 and the interest rate applied was greater too. In
addition, higher income was earned on account remuneration and peak treasury
placements. Therefore, the financial loss for 2024 totalied 9.3 million euros, i.e. down
18.7% on 2023,

The combined performance of the above indicators increased after tax profit at 31
December 2024 (90.3 million euros) by 9.3% on 2023 {82.6 million euros)

The ITINERE Group has allocated the Company’s received dividends to reduce the debt
arising from the purchase of Empresa Nacional de Autopistas, S.A (now ENA
Infraestructuras, S.A.U.) from the State, which was privatised in 2003 for the price of
1,622 million euros. No dividend has been distributed to its shareholders over the course
of the 20 years.

During the 2024 financial year, within the framework of the Addendum to the agreement
included in Royal Decree 1733/2011, of 18 November (Royal Decree 1359/2018, of 29
October), works on improving the Chapela road intensified, with more than 80% of the
planned contract amount having been completed. As far as investments owing to
replacement actions carried out in 2024 were concerned, they focused on roadbeds in
the context of the roadbeds strategy of the company, on slope stabilisation actions, as
well as on improvements to structures, drainage and toll installations to maintain a good
level of service and safety for users.

The amounts paid by the Company to the various Public Administrations for taxes, social
security contributions, etc. totalled 81 million euros in 2024.

In financial year 2024 the average workforce of the Company-inereased-by-3 people.
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The average payment period to suppliers in 2024 was 20 days.

Contingent liabilities

The most relevant matters for the Company in this respect as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 22 (b) of the notes to the financial statements.

Other

The most relevant matters for the Company in this respect as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 22 (c) of the notes to the financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The events subsequent to year-end are those described in note 26 of the attached report.

CompPANY OUTLOOK

Spanish economy has grown by 3.2% in 2024, driven by strong domestic demand, mainly
due to the recovery of household consumption and higher public spending. Looking
ahead to 2025, the European Commission maintains the view of a moderate recovery in
growth as the disinflation process continues, although it warns that risks to growth have
increased to the downside. With all this in mind, it forecasts GDP growth in the euro area
of +1.3% in 2025, although it considers that Spanish growth could perform better, placing
it close to 2%.

The Autopista del Atlantico toll road is the backbone of Galicia, as reflected in traffic
trends on the AP-9, which are closely tied to the economic performance of the region in
recent years. In Galicia, growth in GDP for 2025 is estimated at around 2.2%. Bearing in
mind the current economic situation, growth forecasts for 2025 and the risks already
mentioned, the Company expects to consolidate the traffic data of 2024.

In the financial year of 2025, the Company is expected to continue its actions to replace
and improve infrastructure foreseen in its multi-annual plan, essentially with regard to the
renovation of road surfaces, slope support and the improvement in structures and
installations, with the basic aim of maintaining a user service level with the appropriate
quality and improving safety with a view to reducing the rate of traffic incidents.

During the 2025 financial year, within the framework of the Addendum to the agreement
included in Royal Decree 1733/2011, of 18 November (Royal Decree 1359/2018, of 29
October), the execution of the works for the noise barrier project is scheduled to begin.
On the other hand, included in the same agreement, the works to improve the Chapela
road are expected to be completed in 2025.

The measures implemented in recent years to reinforce the use of electronic toll collection
systems and "multi-payment” booths — which together represented an average of 98.5%
of traffic on the AP-8 in 2024 (average of 98.2% during 2023) will allow for more efficient
collection management.

The Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mobility, in Royal Decree 1359/2018, dated 29
October, approved an Addendum to the agreement approved by Royal Decree
1733/2011, dated 18 November, which establishes that the accumulative annual
extraordinary increase of 1 per cent for twenty years, was applied on 31 October 2018,
the date on which said addendum began to take effect. This Addendum also sets out that
this one-off review will apply over successive years alongside-the-standard-tariff-ravi
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Likewise, Royal Decree-Law 20/2022 of 27 December establishes that from 2024 the
percentage assumed by the then Ministry of Transport, Mobility and the Urban Agenda
will be progressively reduced. The amount of the reduction must be set by ministerial
order, at the proposal of the Government Delegation in the National Toll Road
Concessionary Companies, before 1 January each year.

Likewise, Royal Decree 1342/2024, of 23 December, amended Royal Decree 681/2021,
of 27 July, which modified certain terms of the administrative concession for the
construction, maintenance and operation of the toll road. Specifically, and in relation to
the high frequency, as of January 2025 a 50% bonus of the amount paid for all journeys
made in that month will be applied to all light vehicles that make at least 20 journeys per
month on the toll road, starting from the initial journey (20% bonus for this concept until
December 2024 based on the stipulations of Royal Decree 681/2021, of 27 July). In
addition, as of January 2025, the discount wifl be extended to 50% on all routes for heavy
vehicles travelling on the toll road, applicable to all days of the week and for any toll
payment system (20% discount for this concept until December 2024 based on the
stipulations of Royal Decree 681/2021, of 27 July).

MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The future of the toll road concession sector and, consequently, of the Company is
undoubtedly affected by both the overall economic situation and changes in the regulatory
norms that may significantly affect the expected results.

With regard to potential market risk, the Company operates in accordance with the
concession contracts with the Ministry of Transport and Sustainable Mability, which
establishes the right to redress the financial balance should circumstances beyond the
control of the concession operator arise, significantly limiting the risks associated with the
activity.

In any case, some risk factors can be identified, as summarised below:

o Demand risk: In toll road concessions, the tolls collected by concessionary
companies, which are their main source of income, depend on the number of
vehicles using the road and its capacity to attract traffic. In turn, traffic intensity and
toll income also depend on a number of factors, including the quality, condition,
comfort and travel time on alternative toll-free roads or other toll roads, economic
conditions, fuel prices, weather conditions, natural disasters and the feasibility or
presence of alternative forms of transport such as air routes and railways. The
current characteristics of the AP-9 toll road (mature and widely consolidated
business) mitigate this risk.

* Regqulatory risk: The Company is subject to compliance with both sector-specific
and general regulations (accounting, environmental, labour, data protection, tax,
etc.), whose stability and guarantee is fundamental in a highly regulated sector. As
occurs in all highly regulated sectors, changes in the regulations can have a
negative effect on the Company's business; it is not possible to assess which
actions the granting Administration may take over a protracted period of time, so it
is difficuit to address them. In the case of significant regulatory changes (including
tax modifications), which could have an effect onincome in the short term or obligate
them to bear new costs or investments, the Company would have the right to amend
the terms and conditions of the concession arrangement or negotiate with the
responsible Administration certain changes in them to obtain financial and economic
restitution, so the effects of the potential legal or regulatory changes must be
neutral.
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It is difficult to predict how the overall economy and the toll road catchment area will perform
over the coming period, especially in light of the current situation of economic uncertainty.
The widespread opinion of the economic institutions is that the growth path of the Spanish
economy is shaky due to the many problems that persist and continue to cast a shadow of
uncertainty. Against this background, toll road demand will be measured against the
performance of the general economy. Furthermore, we should consider additional factors
with regard to the evolution in demand, such as the development of alternative means of
transport that might reduce the toll road's market share in the medium and long term. In any
case, growth expectations are positive in the short and medium term, and we expect to
continue to maintain sustainable growth in our activity.

It shall be noted that the assumptions used to revise the projections on which the accounting
estimates are in accordance with the Company's general policy and are conservative.

Other risks to which the Company is exposed are as follows:

* Risks from damage caused during infrastructure maintenance work or construction
or expansion work.

» Risks asscciated with workplace health and safety.

» Risks from loss of assets.

AUDASA has appropriate control systems to identify, quantify, assess and mitigate all of
these risks, thus minimising or eliminating their impact. There is also a policy of contracting
and maintaining insurance policies that are framed within the insurance programme of the
ITINERE Group, which cover, among others, these aspects.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Financial Risk Management Policies applied by the Company are set out in note 24
of the attached report.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

The Company is not engaged in any R&D programmes that might, owing to their
significance and expected results, substantially transform its business activity.

AcQUuISITION OF OWN SHARES

At 31 December 2024, the Company held no own shares. No transactions were carried
out with this type of shares in 2024,

OTHER INFORMATION

(a) The Company's organisational structure

Autopistas del Atlantico, Concesionaria Espafiola, S.A. is a toll road that links the north
and south of Galicia. Its users prefer it to the conventional alternatives for the
convenience, speed and safety it adds to their journeys Due to the local terrain and heavy
traffic flows, this toll road has become a vital part of the road network and thus the social
economy of Galicia.

Like all of the concession companies belonging to ITINERE Group, AUDASA puts the
safety and convenience of the users of its toll roads first. It continuously strives to improve
the technology used in every aspect of its toll roads to ensure the smooth flow of traffic
and more comfortable, safer driving.
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Being a public interest company, AUDASA must fulfil the legal obligations that this entails.
It has systems in place to boost its independence, transparency and supervisory role to
raise quality and increase trust in its economic and financial information.

The decision making processes within AUDASA's organisational structure are as follows:

* The General Shareholders’ Meeting and Board of Directors are granted governance
and administration powers under these Articles of Association and the Law.

* The appointed Board Directors are responsible for administration and representing
the Company in court and out-of-court procedures. The Director or Directors
appointed by the Board are responsible for enforcing its resolutions, who can be
substituted by the Chairman or a representative with powers to enforce and record
the corporate resolutions in a public deed. The Board of Directors can carry out
anything included in the corporate purpose, and exercise any powers not expressly
reserved for the General Shareholders' Meeting by Law or under these Articles of
Association. The Board of Directors will be formed by a minimum of four and a
maximum of fourteen members.

= The Board of Directors can appoint any of its members to form an Audit Committee,
which must comprise non-executive directors, most of whom must be independent
directors and who must elect their Chairman. The Audit Committee will be formed by
a minimum of two and a maximum of three members.

* The Appointments and Remuneration Committee will be exclusively formed by non-
executive directors appointed by the Board of Directors, at least two of whom must
be independent and who must elect their Chairman. The Appointments and
Remuneration Committee will be formed by a minimum of two and a maximum of
three members.

{b) Environmental issues and staff
Environment

ITINERE Group has defined a Quality, Environment and Health and Safety Policy and an
Integrated Management System covering all of the companies that make up the Group,
which include AUDASA. This policy is given to all employees, subcontractors and
suppliers, it is public and it is available to anyone interested on the group's website
(https://www grupoitinere.com/acerca-de-itinere/politica-de-calidad-y-medio-ambiente).

The policy sets out the objectives and basic guidelines, as well as Quality, Environment
and Health and Safety obligations

ITINERE considers quality, environmental friendliness and health and safety at work as
essential pillars in the performance of its activities and the provision of its services to
satisfy all customers, users and shareholders, responding to their requirements and
expectations, with the crucial premise of making their performance compatible with as
little impact on the environment as possible.

Itis for this reason that ITINERE Group’s management assigns the human and material
resources required to achieve the objective of ensuring the conformity of the services
provided with customer requirements and compliance with all legal and regulatory
aspects affecting it, in addition to reviewing and continuously improving the system,
especially in environmental and health and safety behaviour linked to this group's key
activities.
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Following the spirit of our Integrated Management System Policy, we have developed a
mandatory Comprehensive Management Manual and General Procedures in what
regards our infrastructures, in an attempt to cover the main activities carried out by the
group, allowing a single approach to their treatment from a quality, environmental
management and health and safety at work perspective, and especially to each and every
one of the environmental aspects identified, seeking to reduce the impact related with
each and every one of these aspects.

The Integrated Management System has undergone a profound change in 2020, as a
result of updating and incorporating improvements in the procedures.

To ensure compliance with our Environmental Policy, the Group's Management has
established and implemented a Comprehensive Management System for quality,
environment and occupational health and safety, based on the international standards
UNE-EN-ISO 14001:2015, UNE-EN-ISO 9001:2015 and UNE-EN-45001:2018, subject
to internal and external audits by a recognised certifying body.

It has also established a methodology to identify, asset, control and review key
environmental aspects.

Staff

The companies that make up ITINERE Group, as AUDASA, are a very important part of
the social environment and territorial area where they are located, as they guarantee
appropriate mobility for citizens in the whole of Spain, and generate employment,
especially for those residing near the toll road.

AUDASA has its own Collective Bargaining Agreement, which reflects and regulates the
peculiarities of the local culture. The Collective Agreement improves general working
conditions and respond to the concerns and worries of each group.

This policy has led to an excellent working environment with a high level of commitment
to our business project. This can be seen in the significant average length of service of
our staff and in the low voluntary turnover in AUDASA in 2024 (1.58%).

AUDASA establishes an organisation of work depending on weather changes and the
flow of traffic in specific seasons within the relevant legal regulations. Shifts are stable
and the annual work calendar is individualised and delivered at the beginning of the year,
thus enabling professional and family reconciliation.

To strike a work-life batance, the collective bargaining agreement regulates reconciliation
measures, improving on those established by law.

In addition, the company is committed to employment stability and quality employment,
as it appears from the large proportion of permanent contracts (91% of employees have
permanent contracts). Internal promotion is one of the Group's trademarks.

The HR Management guarantees meticulous compliance with the regulations on
prevention, and promotes preventive activities so that they become part of the corporate
culture. In collaboration with the Mutual's prevention services, “Risk Prevention Plans"
have been established and their consequent monitoring, establishing the necessary
corrective measures where necessary.

The collective bargaining agreement regulate the constitution of a Health and Safety
Committee, pursuant to Act 31/1995, of 8 November 1985, on occupational risk
prevention, which is made up of company representatives and prevention delegates. The
aforementioned committees meet when necessary, at the request of one of the parties,
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and supervise the company's actions in risk prevention matters. The Committee may
require implementing special surveillance measures for jobs with health and safety risks.

AUDASA promotes training in health and safety at work for all staff, enabling attendance
to courses given in this area,

AUDASA considers training essential, as constant update of knowledge, specialisation
and greater attention to the service provided by the companies is crucial. So the HR
Management sets the criteria to carry out a training program aimed at improving
professional performance, which ensures that workers develop and perfect the
knowledge required to achieve greater efficiency and better skills in their job performance.

Meanwhile, training is aimed at motivating people and encouraging their development
and integration within the organisation. Training is thus continuous and permanent within
the company. A Training Plan is drawn up annually to address the points to be improved
by employees and encourage adaptation to change, so that the performance of each
position is increasingly higher.

Lastly, AUDASA has an Equality Plan in place in Autopistas del Atlantico, with the
purpose of promoting the application of the principle of equal treatment between men and
women, to promote women's access to management positions, to raise awareness on
equal opportunities at management level, to establish measures that favour the
reconciliation of family and working life and to prevent sex-based discrimination at work.
This has all been regulated in article 67 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement of
AUDASA but, to ensure compliance with the new regulations on effective equality
between men and women, a Committee was set up to negotiate a new Equality Plan,
signed on 25 October 2022, for a period of four years.

Note 20 of the attached Annual Report includes specific information about staff.

ITINERE Group voluntarily provides Non-Financial Reporting containing information
about environmental, social and personnel matters, among others, with key indicators
and their development. This information is available on the website and is part of the
consolidated Annual Accounts of ITINERE:

(https://www grupoitinere.com/acerca-de-itinere/informacion-de-interes/memoria-anual/)
{c) Capital resources

According to the terms and conditions of the concession agreement, the Company is
under the obligation of having a capital structure that establishes a minimum share capital
of 10% in relation to the total investment figure and the same percentage in relation to
the total mobilised funds. The Company easily fulfils both limits.

The investment in the toll road that the Company operates has been financed under a
permanent financing structure (shareholders’ equity and borrowed funds, subsidies and
repayable advances (see note 1 {c} of the attached annual report) in which the borrowed
funds comprised different types of non-current transactions which are refinanced
systematically upon maturity, based on the lengthy concession period remaining and
constant access to debt and capital markets, even in unfavourable circumstances such
as the 2008 financial crisis and the COVID-19 pandemic. Financial debt is currently
represented by six low-tax debentures targeted at the general public, as well as three
loans with institutional investors and two bank loans (see notes 7.13 and 14 of the
attached annual report).

Considering the remaining concession period (until 2048), the EBITDA margin and
recurring income, the Company estimates that it will continue to meet its financial
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obligations on time as it has done so far. The debt service coverage ratio times for interest
in financial year 2024 was 3.9x, showing that the Company has substantial solvency.

The Company does not expect significant changes in the debt-to-equity structure in
financial year 2025.

At the time of preparing these Annual Accounts, the Company had not entered into any
important investment commitments, largely because all of its routes were fully
operational. Should additional funds be required to meet future commitments, for example
due to capital increases or adapting to new legal requirements, systems would be put in
place whereby the granting Public Administration would pay the concession company
compensation for the increased costs to amend the terms and conditions of the
concession agreement. The funds required for such investments could come from
borrowed funds, among others.

The Company’s operating cash flows are used to ensure the proper conservation and
maintenance of the concession assets, both now and in the future, considering the
maturity of the concession company, systematic maintenance plans and predictabitity.

{d) Analysis of contractual obligations and off-balance sheet transactions
The Company has no other contractual obligations other than those mentioned herein.

The company has no significant off-balance sheet transactions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

(a) Code of Good Governance

The unified Code of Good Governance for companies approved by way of a Resolution
of the Board of the National Securities’ Market Commission (CNMV) on 22 May 2006, as
a single document, along with the corporate governance recommendations for the
purposes of the provisions of section 1.f) of the first provision of Order ECO/3722/2003
issued on 26 December, is not mandatorily applicable to AUDASA.

(b) Main characteristics of the internal risk management and control systems with
regard to the information issuance process

s Entity control environment
o Audit Committee

The Company Audit Committee is responsible, inter alia, for verifying the existence and
maintenance of an appropriate, effective Internal Control System for Financial Information
{henceforth, SCIIF), its implementation and supervision.

The duties assigned to the Audit Committee with regard to internal control considered in
the AUDASA Articles of Association in its article 39-bis are the following:

(]

b) To supervise the effectiveness of the internal control of the Company, internal auditing
and risk management systems, as well as discussing with the accounts’ auditor the major
weaknesses of the internal control system detected during the course of the audit, all
without violating its independence. With this in mind, argg_‘_dﬁgring its development,

o tam,
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recommendations or proposals may be made to the administration body and the
attendant timeframe for its monitoring.

¢) To supervise the process to draw up and submit the mandatory financial information
and submit recommendations and proposals to the administration body, aimed at
safeguarding its integrity.

To obtain a reasonable level of certainty about the reliability of the financial information,
the Audit Committee shall supervise:

= The correct application of the accounting principles.
* The suitability of the monitoring procedures and policies implemented.

= The preparation process and integrity of the financial information, reviewing the
correct design and operating effectiveness of the SCIIF and compliance with
normative requirements.

The Audit Committee shall mainly be backed up by Internal Audit work and it shall hold
such meetings with external auditors as prove necessary. Internal Auditing shall plan the
test checks, review the SCIIF, communicate its results and carry out follow-up of the
recommendations.

In turn, the Administration Department of AUDASA shall be responsible for the design,
implementation, evaluation and follow-up of the SCIIF.

The SCHF Manual of the ITINERE Group, which includes AUDASA, has defined an
organisational model and a responsibility structure which involves all levels of the
organisation and which determines the roles of each of the SCIIF participants.

Furthermore, within the ITINERE Group, the Human Resources’ Department is endowed
with an organisational structure which has developed the responsibilities and lines of
authority for each work post and which is periodically updated, adapting to the changes.

o Code of conduct

The Company is subject to the “Code of Conduct” which was modified by a resolution of
the Board of Directors of ITINERE INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A. on 19 December 2019,
applicable to all ITINERE Group companies, considering that its activity and that of the
natural and legal persons related with it not only meets and complies with the prevailing
legislation and its Corporate Governance and Compliance System, but also with the
principles of business ethics and institutional integrity which reflect the values that govern
its action

This Code of Conduct {henceforth, the "Code") is geared towards developing the ethical
and behavioural principles that the Board of Directors of the Company understands that
have to be observed by those subject to the Code during the carrying out of their activity,
based on principle of proper control by those subject to the Code, with a view to
preventing, detecting, reacting and resolving any type of irregular conduct (both from a
legal and ethical perspective), all whilst bearing in mind the criminal liability regime for
legal persons in force under Spanish legislation and set out in the decision from 2012 by
the Board of Directors of the Company to implement in the ITINERE Group an effective,
dynamic criminal risk prevention programme by establishing effective measures in terms
of reliable surveillance, supervision and control to prevent, detect and discover any crimes
and/or irregular conducts that may have been committed during the course of their
business activity, in their name or on their behalf, and to their direct or indirect benefit.

—— TSP A
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On 14th December 2023, the Board of Directors of ITINERE INFRAESTRUCTURAS,
S.A. adopted the decision to modify the text of this Code of Conduct, as it was deemed
necessary to include a declaration of respect and a total prohibition of hostile aftitudes
towards these new social realities, following the publication of Law 4/2023 of 28 February
for the real and effective equality of trans people and for the guarantee of the rights of
LGTBI people. Likewise, on the occasion of expressing our commitment to sustainability
and care for the environment, the corporate commitment has been extended to ensure
that our actions, as well as those of those who wish to enter into business relations with
us, have as a constant basic principle that in all cases we favour the conservation of
biodiversity and the sustainable management of natural resources.

This Code of Conduct, which is published at the website of the Group's parent company
((https://iwww.grupoitinere.com/cumplimiento-corporativo/codigo-de-conducta/)) includes
the commitment of the ITINERE Group to the principles of business ethics, institutional
integrity and transparency in all its fields of action, establishing a set of principles and
rules of conduct aimed at ensuring the ethical, upright and responsible behaviour of all
those subject to the Group Code during the course of their activity. These principles
include being subject to the Law, respect, transparency, sustainability, responsibility,
fairness and honesty in all their actions.

The following parties are all subject to the Code: all the directors, managers, proxies and
employees of the ITINERE Group, in the latter case regardless of how they are
contracted, when they act in their capacity as such, in other words, when they act in the
name or on behalf of the Group or its subsidiaries, during the carrying out of their social
or employment activities and to its direct or indirect benefit, themselves or through some
controlled entity or company. The principles guiding their conduct will be professionalism,
integrity and responsibility:

* Professionalism is diligent, responsible and efficient action focused on achieving
excellence, quality and innovation;

* Integrity is loyal, honourable action, in good faith, objective and aligned with the
interests of the Group as well as with the principles and values expressed in its DNA
throughout this Code;

* Responsibility is behaviour based on four basic premises:

¢ The actiocn should be ethicaily acceptable;
e It should be legally valid,
* Itshould be desirable for the Company and the Group; and

» It should be willing to assume responsibility for it.

o Compliance area

The body responsible for analysing breaches and putting forward corrective actions and
sanctions is the Compliance Function which, as part of the Corporate Governance and
Compliance System, gravitates around the Compliance Area and the Compliance Unit.

The Compliance Area is a permanent, internal body, with competences in the context of
the Compliance Programme and whose operation and actions will be directly supervised
by the Compliance Unit of the Company, in the manner and way in which it is set out in
its internal Regulations. The Compliance Unit is a collegiate body of a permanent, internal
nature of the Company, responsible for taking those decisions conveyed to it by the
Compliance Area, in accordance with its operating Regulations, to which end it has been
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assigned full competences, autonomy and independence of action, also being, through
its Chairman, the notification body to the Board of Directors and Senior Management.

The Company and the ITINERE Group express their purpose of the continuous, sustained
creation of value in the medium and long-term for its shareholders and it shall
permanently put at their disposal the communication and consultation channels that
enable them to have appropriate, useful, truthful and complete information about the
evolution of Group results.

Those subject to the Code shall refrain from generating obligations with a view to avoiding
compliance with the asset liabilities of the Group vis-a-vis its creditors. In particular, any
of the following conducts is strictly forbidden:

* To carry out to the detriment of the Group creditors any act of disposition or assets
or act which generates obligations which delays, hinders or prevents the
effectiveness of a seizure or enforcement procedure or court, out-of-court of
administrative collection which has started or is expected to start.

= With a view to avoiding the payment of civil liabilities deriving from a criminal
proceeding, carrying out acts of disposition or taking on obligations which reduce the
Group's assets or concealing elements of its assets to which the enforcement may
be applied.

* To submit, in a judicial or administrative enforcement procedure, to an authority or
employee responsible for the enforcement, an incomplete or untruthful list of assets
in order to delay, hinder or prevent the satisfaction of a Group creditor.

= Tomake use of any Group assets seized by a public authority which may have been
formed as deposits without being authorised to this end.

In the event that the Company or any of the Group companies finds itself in a current or
imminent insolvency situation, under no circumstances may they carry out any of the
following conducts:

* To conceal, cause damage to or destroy any assets or property that are included or
which would have been included, in the bankrupt estate at the time it commences.

* To carry out acts of disposition or assumption of debts which are not proportionate to
the asset situation of the Group and which lack any type of economic or business
justification.

* To carry out transactions for a price lower than their cost and which in the
circumstances of the case, lack any type of economic or business justification.

= To simulate credits or recognise fictitious credits.

* To take part in speculative business which lack any type of economic or business
Justification and is contrary to the duty of diligence in corporate management of the
Group or its companies.

* To breach the legal duty to keep the accounts or do double bookkeeping or carry out
any type of relevant accounting irregularity which prevents a full understanding of the I
net worth or financial position of the Company or any of the Group entities. |
» To conceal, destroy or alter the documentation with regard to which there is a legal
obligation of storage before the elapsing of the timeframe foreseen to this end by the
applicable regulations
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* To draw up Annual Accounts or accounting records in a manner contrary to the
regulations which regulate company accounting.

* To carry out any other conduct that constitutes a serious infringement of the duty of
diligence and loyalty in the management of economic and business affairs of the
Group or its companies.

» To promote a creditor through acts of disposition of assets or acts which generate
obligations with a view to paying it a payable credit or providing it with a guarantee to
which it was not entitled when the operation lacked any type of economic or business
justification.

o Compliance Channel

The complaints channel of the ITINERE Group, called the Compliance Channel, is
available to employees and suppliers, with a view to promoting compliance with the law
and the behavioural regulations determined in the Code of Conduct, as well as so that
they can make such consultations as they deemed appropriate with regard to their
interpretation or application.

The existence of this Compliance Channel is assumed to be without prejudice to any
other mechanisms or channels that may be established, where applicable, in the context
of the Normative System for Corporate Governance and Compliance of the Group.

The Compliance Channel is a channel for transparent use and of a reserved and
confidential nature for the communication, by those subject to the Group Code, of any
behaviour that may involve the committing, owing to an action or omission, of irregularities
or acts contrary to the law or to the operating laws of the Code of Conduct (“Reporting of
Non-compliance™).

The Compliance Channel is also used to clear up any doubt that may arise about the
interpretation of the Code of Conduct; to communicate any reasonable sign of the leaking
of reserved and confidential information and/or the private use thereof, as well as to carry
out any consultations and consulting regarding the policies and legislation applicable to
economic and financial matters related with possible acts of fraud. The Compliance
Channel ensures confidentiality during the processing of any reports, as well as a
thorough analysis of any actions that may entail a possible breach and maximum respect
for the rights of those people presumably involved therein. ITINERE Group will keep a
record of all complaints received. These will be kept only for the proportionate period as
may be required.

Training programmes

As regards the training and updating programmes, AUDASA and the ITINERE Group
believe that the continuous training of its employees and managers in those aspects that
concern the Company is key. With this in mind, it also believes that in-depth, up-to-date
training of the rules on the drawing up of financial information, normative information
about capital markets, tax affairs and internal control, are necessary to ensure that the
information reported to the markets is reliable and complies with the regulations in force.

The Company Administration Department, as well as the Financial Control and Group
Management Department are subscribed to various publications and magazines of an
accounting/financial nature which periodically send news and other communications of
interest, which are analysed, ensuring that they are taken into account when drawing up
the financial information of the Company.

With regard to the preparation and reviewing of the financial information, every year the _
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requirements which are identified by the Financial Control and Group Management
Department with regard to the new accounting, tax, internal control regulations and the
changes to the reporting methodology and/or the information systems.

As a result of the identification of requirements in the aforementioned areas, the
appropriate training activities are designed and carried out to cover the annual training
targets in these fields.

* Financial information risk assessment

The ITINERE Group ensures the internal quality control of the financial information,
identifying and controlling the critical risks associated with the operations, their
authorisation, registration and processing, as well as the disclosure of the financial
information. It is also vigilant vis-a-vis fraud and anticipates the corrective measures
necessary to reduce the risk of incurring any errors and omission that may affect the
reliability of the financial information.

With this in mind, it has an “Internal Control System Manual for Financial Information
(SCIIF)" for the ITINERE Group, which has been drawn up taking as its reference the
internal control framework determined in the COSO report (Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission) and the definition included in the document
“Internal control of financial information in listed companies” of the CNMV.

For each of the processes and subprocesses identified in the scope matrix of SCIIF, the
following documentation has to be kept up-to-date:

*  Narrative: Written description of the process/subprocess and its controt activities.
= Flowchart: Graphic representation of the control activities flow.

= Risk and control matrix: Identification, for each process/ subprocess, of the inherent
risks and the key controls designed to mitigate them, as well as the sole proprietor of
each of them.

That the information should be reliable entails compliance with all the control objectives
with regard to the financial statements. The safeguarding of assets and the
prevention/detection of fraud are regarded as objectives of SCIIF owing to the impact
they have on the previous objectives.

The financial information objectives inspire the drawing up and updating of the “Risk and
control matrix” of AUDASA, which includes the expected risks and controls, drawn up in
line with good practices and a knowledge of the key processes/subprocesses which are
subject to review, in such a way that, by way of a comparison of the actual situation with
said “Risk and control matrix” whose aspects liable to improvement may become clear.

The supervision process of the internal control system is carried out in continuous fashion
over time.

The scope of the evaluation of the internal control system regarding the financial
information will be approved every year by the Audit Committee, being based on the
cbjectives and risks of the financial information, having to establish those processes
which are especially critical for the preparation of financial information which must be
reviewed annually.

The organisation chart of the ITINERE Group is updated every time there is a change to
the participation of any of the group companies or after the incorporation of new
companies, the sale or dissolution of existing companies, though this procedure is at
ITINERE Group level, as AUDASA does not have any interests in companies.
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Within the qualitative criteria for identifying which accounts and breakdowns are
associated with a significant risk and whose potential impact on the financial information
may be significant, which are determined in the “Internal Control System Manual for
Financial Information (SCIIF)" of the ITINERE Group, there is “any other process that the
Finance Depariment believes may entail any risk whose impact on the Financial
Statements may be significant”

As stated before, the Audit Committee’s duties include responsibility for approval as to
what, when or how to supervise and evaluate the SCIIF, as well as to draw a conclusion
about its effectiveness.

The Audit Committee shall mainly be backed up by the Internal Audit Work.

=  Control activities

At the start of each financial year, and whenever there is a significant variation in the
consclidation perimeter or in the group business, the scope of the SCIIF review procedure
is carried out. The SCIIF scope matrix allows the identification of which accounts and
breakdowns have a significant risk associated and whose potential impact on the financial
information may be significant. Bearing this in mind, quantitative and qualitative factors
are taken into account. This work will be carried out by the Finance Department which
will send AUDASA's Administration Department those material processes that have to be
considered in SCHF.

For each of the significant breakdowns and accounts, the critical processes and
subprocesses associated with them have been defined, and the risks have been identified
which couid generate errors and/or fraud in the financial information, covering all the
objectives of the financial information.

For each of the processes and subprocesses identified in the scope matrix of SCIIF, the
following documentation has to be kept up-to-date:

* Narrative: Written description of the process/subprocess and its control activities.

* Flowchart: Graphic representation of the control activities flow.

* Risk and control matrix: Identification, for each process/ subprocess, of the inherent
risks and the key controls designed to mitigate them, as well as the sole proprietor of

each of them.

Furthermore, within the organisational structure defined for the supervisory duties of
SCIIF, the roles of Process Manager and Control Manager are established.

The Process Manager has the following duties:

= Toidentify any risks that may affect the Financial Information in the process
* To propose and implement the most appropriate controls to mitigate the risks
= To make sure that the controls are working properly.

= To report on the operation of internal control in the process

» |mplementation of recommendations

The Control Manager shall be responsible for:

" PILAR BENITEZ MARYINEZ _ |
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* Informing about any incidents that may occur.

= To keep up-to-date the documentation thereof which shall be reviewed at least every
six months.

The supervision process of the internal control system must be carried out continuously
over time.

The results obtained from the control testing trials carried out by the Internal Audit
Department shall be communicated at 3 levels:

= The process managers;
=  AUDASA Administration Department;
= Audit Committee.

If any incidents or opportunities for improvement have been identified which do not affect
the result of the test as effective, they shall be notified to the Process Manager for his
analysis and consideration.

If it is concluded that the controls are ineffective, the shortcomings must be communicated
and compared first and foremost, with the Process Manager, and then be informed to the
Administration Department of AUDASA and the Audit Committee, in accordance with the
order established in the Evaluation (annual review} or Supervision processes,
respectively determined in the Policy.

* Internal control procedures and policies regarding the information systems

AUDASA uses information systems to keep a suitable logging and control of its operations
and hence their smooth operation is a key element. The internal control system for the
financial information of AUDASA has defined those critical processes and subprocesses
which affect the drawing up of the financial information. Within these processes and
subprocesses there are specific controls which cover the process for drawing up and
publishing financial information.

For those systems and applications used in the preparation of financial information, the
Administration Department has determined general policies aimed at ensuring their
proper operation. The policies developed cover safety, both physical and logical, as
regards accesses, design verification procedures for new systems or modifications to the
already existing ones and the continuity of their operation (or coming on line of alternative
applications and systems) ion the event of any unexpected events that affect their
operation.

To date, AUDASA has not outsourced any processes from which the information set out
therein derives, which has a material impact on the financial statements and is not subject
to supervision by the Company. When outsourcing with third parties, it is ensured that the
technical capacity, independence and competence of the outsourced party is that
required for the work to be carried out. In the majority of cases, they are evaluations
carried out by independent experts whose criteria and results are reviewed by the Itinere
Group.

* [nformation and communication

The specific function responsible for defining and keeping up-to-date the accounting
policies and clearing up and queries and disputes deriving from their interpretation,
maintaining fluid communication with those responsible for operations in the organisation,
as well as an up-to-date accounting policies’ manual and communicated to the units
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through which the entity operates, falls to the Financial Control and Management
Department of ITINERE which performs these duties for the purposes of preparing the
consolidated financial information and, accordingly, the information that each subsidiary
{AUDASA, in this case) has to report.

The ITINERE Group has various integrated financial information platforms for virtually all
its subsidiaries. Each of the subsidiaries is responsible for drawing up and loading the
corporate consolidation and reporting system, the Monthly Reporting that contains the
financial information required at the close of each month for the preparation of the
consclidated information and any other financial information required.

The Monthly Reporting is unique and based on a homogeneous chart of accounts for all
the companies determined by the Financial Control and Management Department of the
ITINERE Group and it includes breakdowns and notes which are updated in each report
and which present a monthly approval and review process before their distribution. The
information of the Monthly Reporting is loaded directly by the controllers in the corporate
consolidation and reporting system and this involves a series of controls, being revised
in the holding with a view to ensuring the reliability and correct presentation of the
information for the financial year.

*  Supervision of system operation

The supervision activities with regard to SCIIF are undertaken by the Audit Committee
and the Internal Audit Department.

Of the duties included under article 39-bis of the AUDASA Articles of Association, those
of internal control supervision and knowing the financial information process and the
internal control systems of the Company are represented, overseeing compliance with
the legal requirements and the proper application of the generally accepted accounting
principles.

The Audit Committee shall mainly be backed up by the work of the Internal Audit
Department and it shall hold such meetings with external auditors as prove necessary..

The Internal Audit Department shall plan the supervision and evaluation of SCIIF, with
the appropriate scope and frequency in order to be able to reach a conclusion about their
effectiveness, taking into account the works of the Annual Audit Plan, with the latter being
approved at the start of each financial year by the Audit Committee of AUDASA.

The Internal Audit Department shall determine the nature and extent of the tests to be
carried out which facilitate the identification of any potential shortcomings in contro! and
the analysis of the causes underlying them to determine the degree of compliance and
efficiency of the control systems. The shortcomings identified in the evaluation are
classified in line with quantitative criteria, taking into account the impact on the financial
statements and the likelihood of the occurrence thereof, and subsequently based on
qualitative criteria.

The Audit Committee must be informed about any incidents detected in SCIIF elements
related with the following situations:

* Reworking of the financial statements.

* Identification by the external auditors of any material adjustments which have not
been detected by internal control.

= Incorrect operation of the Complaints Channel Procedure or Control bodies.

I
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* Legal breaches.

= Significant shortcomings communicated to the Management and to the Audit
Committee and which have not been corrected within a reasonable timeframe.

= A deficient control environment.

* Identification of fraud which has been carried out by the Management, or identification
of fraud by any other employee/s which exceeds the threshold determined by the
Management.

* Controls which avoid the misappropriation (authorisations, powers of attorney efc.) of
company assets which may have a material impact on the financial statements,
should start being regarded as material weaknesses. If these incidents are not
regarded as material weaknesses, but rather as significant shortcomings, the reasons
underlying this decision should be sent to the Finance Department, subject to
agreement with the external auditor.

The Internal Audit Department periodically submits to the Audit Committee:
* the Annual Internal Audit Plan which it must approve, where applicable.
= adetailed monitoring of the implementation of the Audit Plan.
= the evaluation of SCIIF.

* Risk assessment of the company, evaluating whether the internal auditors are
supervising the essential controis and identifying and tackling all the risks,

* the control of the implementation of corrective measures or recommendations carried
out by the Internal Audit Department and, where applicable, the justification of the
breach thereof.

The communication between the Audit Commitiee and the external auditor shall be fluid and
continuous, provided that they do not prejudice the independence of the auditor nor the
effectiveness with which the audit is carried out whereby the audit procedures are undertaken.
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PROPOSED DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT
FOR 2024

Profit for 2024 totalled 90,274,158.08 euros, which will be fully distributed as the dividend.
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ONE: Pursuant to the requirements of Aricle 253 of the consclidated text of the Capital
Companies Act and Article 37 of the Spanish Code of Commerce, the Directors of AUTOPISTAS
DEL ATLANTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPANOLA, S.A. {Sociedad Unipersonal), specified
hereinbelow, all of them comprising the Board of Directors in its entirety, have prepared the
attached Annual Accounts, including the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement of
changes In equity, the cash flow statement and Annual Report, the management report and the
proposed distribution of profit for the year ended 31 December 2024, to be approved by the Sole
Sharehalder of the Company. Said decuments are included on the preceding pages, correlatively
numbered from 1 to the present one.

TWO: At the same time, the undersigned, as the Company's Directors, declare that the
Company's books, which form the basis of these Annual Accounts, do not contain any items that
need to be included in the specific environmental information document provided for in Justice
Ministry Order JUS/206/2009 of 28 January.

Signed in Madrid on 31 March 2025.

Mr. Andrés Muntaner Pedrosa
Chairman

Mr Juan Carlos Lépez V_erdeio
Director

Mr. José Puelles Gallo
Director

" Mr. José Carlos Otero Fernandez
Diractor

Mr. Rafael Monjo Carrié
Director
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Represented by:

Mr. Francisco Javier Pérez Gracia
Director

" Mr. José Alberto Diaz Pefia

Director

Mr. Alberto Jiménez Ortiz

Director

Mr. José Luis Gémez Sierra
Director

Mr. Santiago del Pino Aguilera
Secretary non-Director
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CLASE 8
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TRADUCCION JURADA

Pilar Benitez Martinez, Traductora Jurada facultada por el Ministerio de Asuntos
Exteriores espafiol.

Traduccién jurada ndmero P ﬂ ? 5 05 H en mis archivos personales.

La presente traduccién consta de 75 paginas, firmadas y selladas por la traductora.

FAkok kK ok

D2 Pilar Benitez Martinez, Intérprete Jurado de Inglés, Traductora Oficial por la
Oficina de Interpretacién de Lenguas del Ministerio de Asuntos Exteriores, habilitada
para el ejercicio de la traduccién oficial en todo el territorio nacional, por el presente
documento DOY FE: )

De que la traduccién anterior refleja fielmente en el idioma INGLES un documento en
el idioma ESPANOL.

Y para que asi conste, firmo y sello el presente documento en Madrid, a 14 de abril
de 2025.

Ms Pilar Benitez Martinez, Sworn Translator by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of
Spain, duly certified and sworn for the official translation of documents in the Spanish
Territory, HEREBY CERTIFY:

That the previous translation faithfully r
SPANISH.

And for the record, I sign and stamp this dgcument in Madrid, 14t of April 2025.

roduces in ENGLISH a document in
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